This is the final peer-reviewed accepted manuscript of:

Ingrosso, Gianmarco; Abbiati, Marco; Badalamenti, Fabio; Bavestrello, Giorgio; Belmonte, Genuario; Cannas, Rita; Benedetti-Cecchi, Lisandro; Bertolino, Marco; Bevilacqua, Stanislao; Bianchi, Carlo Nike; Bo, Marzia; Boscari, Elisa; Cardone, Frine; Cattaneo-Vietti, Riccardo; Cau, Alessandro; Cerrano, Carlo; Chemello, Renato; Chimienti, Giovanni; Congiu, Leonardo; Corriero, Giuseppe; Costantini, Federica; De Leo, Francesco; Donnarumma, Luigia; Falace, Annalisa; Fraschetti, Simonetta; Giangrande, Adriana; Gravina, Maria Flavia; Guarnieri, Giuseppe; Mastrototaro, Francesco; Milazzo, Marco; Morri, Carla; Musco, Luigi; Pezzolesi, Laura; Piraino, Stefano; Prada, Fiorella; Ponti, Massimo; Rindi, Fabio; Russo, Giovanni Fulvio; Sandulli, Roberto; VILLAMOR MARTIN PRAT, ADRIANA JACINTA; Zane, Lorenzo; Boero, Ferdinando: Mediterranean bioconstructions along the Italian coast. ADVANCES IN MARINE BIOLOGY 79. 0065-2881

DOI: 10.1016/bs.amb.2018.05.001

The final published version is available online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/bs.amb.2018.05.001

Rights / License:

The terms and conditions for the reuse of this version of the manuscript are specified in the publishing policy. For all terms of use and more information see the publisher's website.

This item was downloaded from IRIS Università di Bologna (<u>https://cris.unibo.it/</u>)

When citing, please refer to the published version.

Mediterranean Bioconstructions Along the Italian Coast

Gianmarco Ingrosso^{*,†,1}, Marco Abbiati^{†,‡,§}, Fabio Badalamenti[¶], Giorgio Bavestrello^{†,||}, Genuario Belmonte^{*,†}, Rita Cannas[#], Lisandro Benedetti-Cecchi^{†,**}, Marco Bertolino^{†,||}, Stanislao Bevilacqua^{*,†}, Carlo Nike Bianchi^{||}, Marzia Bo^{||}, Elisa Boscari^{†,††}, Frine Cardone^{†,‡‡}, Riccardo Cattaneo-Vietti^{†,§§}, Alessandro Cau[#], Carlo Cerrano^{†,§§}, Renato Chemello^{†,¶¶}, Giovanni Chimienti^{†,‡‡}, Leonardo Congiu^{†,††}, Giuseppe Corriero^{†,‡‡}, Federica Costantini^{†,|||}, Francesco De Leo^{*,†}, Luigia Donnarumma^{†,##}, Annalisa Falace^{***}, Simonetta Fraschetti^{*,†}, Adriana Giangrande^{*,†}, Maria Flavia Gravina^{†,†††}, Giuseppe Guarnieri^{*,†}, Francesco Mastrototaro^{†,‡‡}, Marco Milazzo^{†,¶¶}, Carla Morri^{||}, Luigi Musco^{‡‡‡}, Laura Pezzolesi^{‡,§§}, Stefano Piraino^{*,†}, Fiorella Prada[¶],

Roberto Sandulli^{†,##}, Adriana Villamor^{||||}, Lorenzo Zane^{†,††}, Ferdinando Boero^{*,†,§§§}

*Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Biologiche ed Ambientali (DiSTeBA), University of Salento, Lecce, Italy

Consorzio Nazionale Interuniversitario per le Scienze del Mare (CoNISMa), Rome, Italy

, Dipartimento di Beni Culturali (DBC), University of Bologna, Ravenna, Italy

Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Scienze Marine (CNR-ISMAR), Bologna, Italy

[¶]Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto per l'Ambiente Marino Costiero (CNR-IAMC), Marine Ecology Laboratory, Castellammare del Golfo, Italy

^{II}Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita (DiSTAV), University of Genova, Genova, Italy

[#]Dipartimento di Scienze della Vita e dell'Ambiente, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

**Dipartimento di Biologia, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

^{††}Dipartimento di Biologia, University of Padova, Padova, Italy

^{‡‡}Dipartimento di Biologia, University of Bari, Bari, Italy

Solution Scienze della Vita e dell'Ambiente, Polytechnic University of Marche, Ancona, Italy

^{III}Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra e del Mare, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

^{[[]]}Dipartimento di Scienze Biologiche, Geologiche e Ambientali (BiGeA), University of Bologna, Ravenna, Italy

^{##}Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie, Parthenope University of Naples, Naples, Italy

***Dipartimento di Scienze della Vita, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy

^{†††}Dipartimento di Biologia, Tor Vergata University of Rome, Rome, Italy

^{###}Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Integrative Marine Ecology Department, Napoli, Italy

^{§§§}Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Scienze Marine (CNR-ISMAR), Genova, Italy

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: gianmarco.ingrosso@unisalento.it

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | | 63 |
|------------------|---|---|-----|
| 2. | Patterns | | 64 |
| | 2.1 | What Is a Bioconstruction? | 64 |
| | 2.2 | Mediterranean Bioconstructions: Biodiversity and Distribution Along | |
| | | the Italian Coasts | 66 |
| 3. | . Processes | | 85 |
| | 3.1 | Building/Bioeroding Processes and the Age of Bioconstructions | 85 |
| | 3.2 | Connectivity | 89 |
| 4. | . Measures | | 96 |
| | 4.1 | Major Threats to Mediterranean Bioconstructions | 96 |
| | 4.2 | Current Conservation Measures | 106 |
| 5. | 5. Guidelines and Recommendations: A Holistic Approach to Support | | |
| | Mar | nagement and Conservation Strategies | 108 |
| 6. | Cor | iclusions | 113 |
| Acknowledgements | | | 114 |
| References | | | 114 |

Abstract

Marine bioconstructions are biodiversity-rich, three-dimensional biogenic structures, regulating key ecological functions of benthic ecosystems worldwide. Tropical coral reefs are outstanding for their beauty, diversity and complexity, but analogous types of bioconstructions are also present in temperate seas. The main bioconstructions in the Mediterranean Sea are represented by coralligenous formations, vermetid reefs, deep-sea cold-water corals, Lithophyllum byssoides trottoirs, coral banks formed by the shallow-water corals Cladocora caespitosa or Astroides calycularis, and sabellariid or serpulid worm reefs. Bioconstructions change the morphological and chemicophysical features of primary substrates and create new habitats for a large variety of organisms, playing pivotal roles in ecosystem functioning. In spite of their importance, Mediterranean bioconstructions have not received the same attention that tropical coral reefs have, and the knowledge of their biology, ecology and distribution is still fragmentary. All existing data about the spatial distribution of Italian bioconstructions have been collected, together with information about their growth patterns, dynamics and connectivity. The degradation of these habitats as a consequence of anthropogenic pressures (pollution, organic enrichment, fishery, coastal development, direct physical disturbance), climate change and the spread of invasive species was also investigated.

The study of bioconstructions requires a holistic approach leading to a better understanding of their ecology and the application of more insightful management and conservation measures at basin scale, within ecologically coherent units based on connectivity: the cells of ecosystem functioning.

1. INTRODUCTION

Marine bioconstructions, or bioherms (Schuhmacher and Zibrowius, 1985), are elevated structures made of living benthic organisms (bio constructors) that overgrow the remnants (usually skeletons or shells) of their predecessors. Bioconstructions of various shapes and sizes are found along depth gradients ranging from the sea surface to the deep sea; some are ephemeral and last only a few seasons or years, whereas others persist for cen turies or even millennia.

Bioconstructors modify primary (i.e. geological) substrates and provide secondary (i.e. biogenic) substrates for new bioconstructors and for non bioconstructors who simply inhabit them. Darwin (1842) first described the formation of tropical coral reefs, but biogenic formations are also present in nontropical seas. Erect benthic organisms are habitat formers since they modify primary substrates with their presence, but most of them do not build permanent formations and must renew with each generation (Jones et al., 1994). Bioconstructions, instead, are the result of centuries or even millennia of biological activities: their destruction can be almost irreversible, so they require the greatest attention in any conservation measures.

The European Union (EU) Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC (European Community, 1992) identified just a few marine habitats deserving protec tion at Community level, including *Posidonia oceanica* (Linnaeus) Delile, 1813 meadows and "reefs". The category "reefs" comprises both biogenic and geogenic formations that arise from the sea bed (European Commission, 2007, 2013). Rhizomes of *Posidonia* meadows grow on each other, entrap sediments and elevate the substrate, thus creating a bioconstruction type which might be referred to as being a simple subcategory of "reefs". Both *Posidonia* meadows and biogenic "reefs", as bioconstructions, promote high levels of biodiversity and enhance ecosystem functioning.

In the Mediterranean Sea, the richest European basin in terms of biodi versity, conservation priorities through the Natura 2000 network have been mostly devoted to *Posidonia* meadows (e.g. Boudouresque et al., 2009), with limited initiatives towards other types of bioconstructions. As a result, our understanding of the status and trends of most Mediterranean bio constructions is inadequate and often confined to few species, whose role is more presumed than quantitatively demonstrated. Recent studies show that human pressures are having critical effects on the distribution of various types of bioconstructions, causing their degradation, fragmentation and loss,

and the studies have shown this to occur from the shallow to the deep sea (Kružić, 2014; Piazzi et al., 2012; Teixidó et al., 2013; and references therein; Terrón Sigler et al., 2016a; Vorberg, 2000).

The management of bioconstructions, just as that of all components of natural capital, is based on three pillars:

- (a) *Patterns*—assessing the distribution of habitats and their conservation status.
- (b) *Processes*—understanding the drivers that determine the patterns and identifing stressors and their impacts.
- (c) *Measures*—enforcing management actions based on solid scientific evidence.

This study focuses on the most important biogenic habitats along the 8500 km of the Italian coast, covering a large portion of the habitat diversity of the whole Mediterranean basin. Our aims are to: (1) give an agreed def inition of bioconstruction; (2) review the existing distributions of marine bioconstructions along the Italian coasts; (3) investigate the potential for assessing connectivity of marine bioconstructions using different approaches (e.g. genetic analyses, beta diversity and biophysical models); (4) provide information about the age of some bioconstructions by radiocarbon dating; (5) assess the effects of common human pressures; and (6) propose new areas of critical ecological importance to be included in protection priorities.

Based on this knowledge, recommendations for future research are proposed, together with guidelines for the conservation of coastal bioconstructions.

2. PATTERNS

2.1 What Is a Bioconstruction?

In the scientific literature bioconstructions are also called "biogenic reefs" and this has generated several, commonly rather sterile, nomenclatural controver sies. Boero (2017a), for instance, commented on the recent discovery of a new biogenic reef in front of the Amazon River delta (Moura et al., 2016), mostly built by crustose coralline algae, just like Mediterranean coralligenous bio constructions (Ballesteros, 2006) that, however, was uncited.

The term "bioconstruction" was first used in marine and coastal geology usually referring to a limestone structure of biogenic origin that has been built up by modular and sediment binding organisms including macroalgae, corals, bryozoans and stromatoporoids (Fox, 2005). While describing a Silurian reef in Indiana (USA), Carozzi and Zadnik (1959) introduced the term "bioconstructed limestone" in geology, and the word "bioconstructed" was used to differentiate limestones and dolomites from dolomitic calcarenites. Carozzi (1961) subsequently used the term "bioconstruction" for a stroma toporoid reef of the Upper Devonian in Alberta (Canada).

Jones et al. (1994, 1997) further integrated the term "bioconstruction" with the definition of "physical ecosystem engineers" for species that create, modify or maintain habitats by causing physical changes in biotic and abiotic materials or structures that, directly or indirectly, modulate the availability of resources to other species.

Only low diversity (mono or oligotypic) bioconstructions can be found in the Mediterranean, as in all temperate areas, whereas high diversity (poly typic) reefs are typical of tropical seas (Bianchi, 2002; Cocito, 2004; Sheppard et al., 2017). In some Mediterranean reefs the engineer species are either one (as in *Cladocora* reefs) or two (as in the *Dendropoma–Neogoniolithon* intertidal reefs), but rich species assemblages contribute to the construction of some coralligenous reefs.

Bianchi (2002) proposed two processes leading to biogenic reef forma tion: gregarism, in which individuals derived from different larvae or spores settle side by side, as in polychaete worms and vermetid molluscs, or modularity/coloniality, based on asexual reproduction (vegetative multipli cation), as in cnidarians. Clonal organisms grow bigger than individual ones (Jackson, 1977), and their biogenic reefs are formed by aggregations of clonal formations, i.e., by the gregarism of modular organisms. The most conspicuous biogenic reefs are produced by the activity of skeleton producing organisms such as calcareous algae, oysters and corals. Other biogenic reefs may be produced by sand binding and cementing activities of some organisms, as in the case of sabellariid worm reefs or stromatolites formed by cyanobacteria. Calcareous sediments deriving from algae, mollusc shells, echinoderms spines, sponge spicules and other skeletal debris often fill the spaces within the reef framework and become consolidated in various ways. Sponges, zoanthids and certain colonial ascidians can bind reef materials together, becoming a sort of connective tissue. Organisms that grow as calcareous sheets can act as biological cementing agents, building permanent bonds that cause the strong adhesion of loose calcareous sedi ments to the reef frame. Beneath the living reef, the material has a marble like consistency. The mechanisms that produce such diagenetic cement are numerous and partially unclear, but the process is thought to include also a biological component derived from microbial activity or from organic compounds produced by reef organisms (Macintyre and Marshall, 1988; Scoffin, 1992).

2.2 Mediterranean Bioconstructions: Biodiversity and Distribution Along the Italian Coasts

Marine bioconstructions are common throughout the Mediterranean Sea, but complete cartographic data on their distribution are a major knowledge gap. The distribution of marine bioconstructions along the Italian seas reported here has been assembled from 468 documents (peer reviewed articles; international, national and regional reports; grey literature) reporting spatial information (e.g. maps or detailed acoustic mapping). Spatial information was also obtained from unpublished in situ observations from various sources. All records have been validated and georeferenced. When digital spatial information was not available, it was created by digitizing image maps or by extracting spatial information from the text, based on expert knowledge. The ArcGIS 10.1 software by ESRI (Environmental System Resource Institute, https:// www.esri.com/) was used to integrate all the data into a geodatabase and to generate the distribution maps.

Included in the proposed definition of bioconstruction are the mattes of *P. oceanica* (i.e. the woody structures created by the rhizomes of this sea grass) since the new rhizomes grow over the old ones, raising seafloor and making it stable for thousands of years (Bianchi, 2002). Thus it is worthwhile to include the distribution of *Posidonia* meadows (Fig. 1) due to the key eco logical role of this habitat in the Mediterranean Sea (Boudouresque and Meinesz, 1982), in order to provide a complete picture of the main marine bioconstructions of Italian seas. However, *Posidonia* meadows are still usually considered as a distinct habitat from "reefs" and are treated further here in only a limited way.

Bioconstructors comprise a wide range of organisms: calcareous algae, sponges, corals, vermetids, oysters, mussels, polychaetes (serpulids and sabellariids), barnacles, bryozoans and other noncalcified organisms such as cyanobacteria and diatom biofilms (Goldberg, 2013; Wood, 1999). The Mediterranean Sea hosts important biogenic structures (Relini, 2009) and the main ones considered here are as follows:

- Lithophyllum byssoides concretions/trottoirs
- Astroides calycularis formations/reefs
- Coralligenous assemblages
- Cladocora caespitosa formations/reefs
- Vermetid reefs
- Sabellariid reefs
- Cold water coral frameworks
- Serpulid reefs, including biostalactites



Fig. 1 (A) *P. oceanica* meadow). (B) Distribution of *P. oceanica* along the Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area and *rectangles* stand for polygons with a specific area characterized by the presence of *P. oceanica*. Boundaries of points and polygons of data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panel (A): Alberto Gennari. Panel (B): EMODnet biology database; Belluscio, A., Panayiotidis, P., Gristina, M., Knittweis, L., Pace, M.L., Telesca, L., et al., 2013. Seagrass beds distribution along the Mediterranean coasts. Mediterranean Sensitive Habitats (MEDISEH) Final Report, DG MARE Specific Contract SI2.600741.*

All these structures have a great importance in generating and maintaining marine biodiversity, since they increase spatial complexity and settlement opportunities (MacArthur and MacArthur, 1961; Rebele, 1994). Other Mediterranean bioformations, like rhodoliths and maërl beds, barnacles of

the upper intertidal belt, mussel and oyster beds and bryozoan reefs, host a great diversity of life, but they do not produce substantial bioconstructions and are not covered here.

2.2.1 Lithophyllum byssoides Concretions/Trottoirs

Lithophyllum byssoides (Lamarck) Foslie is a coralline red alga forming adher ent crusts with a crinkled surface made of convoluted lamellae or finger like protrusions (Bressan et al., 2009; Verlaque, 2010). It is relatively common in the western and central Mediterranean, but it does not occur in the eastern most parts of the basin (Laborel, 1987). L. byssoides is one of the few genuinely intertidal Mediterranean algae; it occurs in a narrow vertical belt a few dec imetres wide, located just above the mean sea level (Fig. 2A), forming large populations on rocky shores directly exposed to prevailing winds (Verlaque, 2010), covering either horizontal tidal notches (Antonioli et al., 2015) or overhangs. Under these conditions, numerous thalli of L. byssoides coalesce and form thick concretions that cover the surface of the rock, often protruding from it. Well developed concretions form step like or overhanging rims, which may protrude up to 2m from the colonized rocky surface. These rims are called L. byssoides "encorbellements" (corbels), when they protrude only a little, or "trottoirs" (sidewalks), when protruding greatly. At highly exposed sites they may be found up to 50 cm above the mean sea level, and as a result they form the uppermost bioconstructions on Mediterranean coasts. Living L. byssoides occurs only on the upper and outer surfaces of the rims; the remaining parts consist of very hard, multilayered materials formed by deposition processes that fill the interstices between the lamellae of the dead alga with a hardened sedimentary matrix (Verlaque, 2010). The overgrowth of notches gives the same aspect of the bioconstruction, but, in this case, the algae encrust a step of geological origin, protruding from its edge. Other algae are usually associated with a well developed rim of L. byssoides (e.g. Chaetomorpha ligustica (Kützing) Kützing (= Chaetomorpha mediterranea (Kützing) Kützing), Palisada perforata (Bory de Saint Vincent) Nam (=Laurencia papillosa (C. Agardh) Greville), Pterocladiella melanoidea (Schousboe ex Bornet) Santelices (= P. melanoidea (Schousboe ex Bornet) E.Y. Dawson), Lophosiphonia cristata Falkenberg and Taenioma nanum (Kützing) Papenfuss) (Bressan et al., 2009). The lower part of the rim is profusely colonized by sciaphilic algae and inver tebrates that are similar to those living in clefts and caves (Laborel, 1987; Verlaque, 2010). Various types of bioeroders (sponges of the genus Cliona) and boring species (molluscs of the genus Lithophaga, etc.) are also present, reducing the stability of the rim by creating tunnels and cavities into the



Fig. 2 (A) *L. byssoides* formations in the intertidal zone. The *orange coral A. calycularis* can also be found immediately below if the environmental conditions are suitable. (B) Occurrence and distribution of *L. byssoides* and (C) of *A. calycularis* along the Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area. Boundaries of points of the data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panel (A): Alberto Gennari.*

bioconstruction. The polychaete *Spirorbis infundibulum* Harris & Knight Jones, 1964 is exclusive to this habitat (Bianchi, 1981).

L. byssoides is not rare along Italian shores. Most frequently, however, it occurs as separate, noncoalescing individual thalli. Build ups and large rims

occur on Tyrrhenian, Ionian and southern Adriatic shores (Fig. 2B), but have a circumscribed distribution, limited to stretches ranging from tens of metres to a few kilometres. When present, *L. byssoides* rims usually are not continuous along the shoreline but are best developed in inlets, crevices or other spots that provide partially shaded conditions and some shelter from wave action. A preference of this alga for calcareous rocks over granites and schists has been noted in some areas (Cossu and Gazale, 1997). In Italy, these bioconstructions reach their maximal extent in northwestern Sardinia, where rims can be wider than 2m (Cossu and Gazale, 1997).

2.2.2 Astroides calycularis Formations/Reefs

The orange coral *Astroides calycularis* (Pallas, 1766) is an azooxanthellate dendrophylliid coral with a calcium carbonate exoskeleton, endemic to the Mediterranean Sea (Zibrowius, 1980, 1983; Fig. 2). It inhabits rocky shores from the surface to 50 m depth (Ocaña et al., 2000; Rossi, 1971) but is typ ically found in the shallow infralittoral zone (0–15 m depth), on vertical walls

or inside caves (Cinelli et al., 1977; Kružíc et al., 2002; Zibrowius, 1978); in the latter habitat, it can exhibit great size and cover (Morri et al., 1994a). This scleractinian coral is considered a reef forming species (European Commission, 2013) since its bioconstructions cover up to 90% of some rocky areas in shallow waters (Goffredo et al., 2011) and host a rich invertebrate fauna. In the southern coast of the Iberian Peninsula, Terrón Sigler et al.(2014) found 81 macroinvertebrate species (mainly crustaceans, annelids and molluscs) associated with *A. calycularis* colonies.

A. calycularis mostly occurs in the south western part of the basin from the Straits of Gibraltar to Sicily (Terrón Sigler et al., 2016a). Musco et al. (2016) report a list of five hot spot areas, in the south western coast of the Italian peninsula, where A. calycularis reefs appear more developed (Fig. 2C), namely: (1) the Sorrento Peninsula and the islands of Ischia and Capri, (2) the Cilento coast, (3) the Strait of Messina and the Aeolian Islands, (4) the north western coast of Sicily and (5) Pantelleria and the Pelagie Islands in the Strait of Sicily. In the Adriatic Sea, the species is present with sparse

colonies along the Croatian coast only (Grubelic et al., 2004; Kružíc et al., 2002); some sporadic records along the Italian side need confirmation. The northernmost record along the Italian coast is of a dead colony at Giglio Island (Bianchi and Morri, 1994). The northern limit of stable reef forming populations is at Ventotene (Pontine Islands), while the southern limit is in the Pelagie Islands (Musco et al., 2016).

2.2.3 Coralligenous Assemblages

According to Ballesteros (2006), a coralligenous reef is a hard substratum of biogenic origin that is mainly produced by the accumulation of calcareous encrusting corallines (red algae, Rhodophyta) growing under dim light con ditions. It often develops on almost vertical walls, on gently sloping bottoms near the base of a wall and on overhangs, but it can also form platforms on the continental shelf (Fig. 3A and B). Recently, coralligenous atolls, whose origin is still unresolved, have been discovered between 100 and 130 m depth off the northern coasts of Corse (Bonacorsi et al., 2012).

Coralligenous formations consist of carbonatic bioherms whose thick nesses range from 25 cm to more than 2m, and they can characterize the



Fig. 3 The two main geomorphological categories of the coralligenous assemblages (A) rims and (B) banks. (C) Spatial distribution of coralligenous formations. (D) Distribution of the main banks of *C. caespitosa. Points* represent data with no associated surface area and rectangles stand for polygons with a specific area characterized by the presence of coralligenous assemblages. Boundaries of points and polygons of data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panels (A) and (B): Alberto Gennari.*

Mediterranean rocky bottoms from 15 to 130m depth, depending on water transparency (Ballesteros, 2006; Martin et al., 2014). These build ups are mainly due to the activity of several encrusting calcareous algae (of the genera Lithophyllum, Lithothamnion, Mesophyllum, Neogoniolithon and Peyssonnelia)(Laborel, 1961; Laubier, 1966; Sartoretto et al., 1996) whose remains are cemented by microbial carbonates. Several species and/or assemblages can be associated with these biogenic red algal constructions (Boudouresque et al., 2015), namely: forests of the seaweed Cystoseira zosteroides (Turner) C. Agardh (Ballesteros et al., 2009); animal forests consisting of gorgonians, e.g., Eunicella spp. and Paramuricea clavata (Risso, 1826); large erect sponges such as Axinella polypoides Schmidt, 1862; bryozoans such as Turbicellepora spp. and Pentapora fascialis (Pallas, 1766); stands of crustose but not bioconstructing algae; turf and bushy macroalgae; and small sized sessile metazoans belonging mainly to sponges, cnidarians, serpulid polychaetes, bryozoans and ascidians (Boudouresque, 1973). The result is an extraordinary habitat with a great biodiversity. Ballesteros (2006) made a first estimate of the number of species associated with coralligenous formations, listing about 1670 species. However, this is probably an underestimated number because the complex structure of coralligenous assemblages and their highly diverse composition suggests that they host more species than any other Mediterranean habitat.

Light is an important driver in determining the distribution and assem blages of benthic organisms, together with water movement, sediment rates, substrate features and geographical area (Ballesteros, 2006). The main cor alligenous geomorphological structures along the Italian coasts are on cliffs (Fig. 3A) and platforms (Fig. 3B). Coralligenous rims develop on vertical and subvertical cliffs between 10 and 50 + m depth, or surrounding the opening of submarine caves, often forming structures of considerable thickness. Cor alligenous banks are flat structures developing over more or less horizontal substrata, between 15 and 100 + m depth. These platforms can be extensive and develop on both rocky substrates (Laborel, 1987) and coastal debris deposits, generally starting from the coalescence of rhodoliths together with sand and gravel (Basso et al., 2007).

Coralligenous assemblages are widespread along the Italian coast (Fig. 3C), with the exception of the sandy muddy seabed between the Po delta river and the Gargano Peninsula. Many mesophotic biogenic habitats are scattered on the northern Adriatic continental shelf. These structures, locally called *trezze* or *tegnue*, are similar to coralligenous assemblages and their size ranges from a few to thousands square metres in the surface area, and they rise up to 4m in height from the surrounding sedimentary bottom

(Gordini et al., 2012). High concentrations of small and medium sized reefs are distributed off the lagoons of Venice and Grado Marano, and a larger reef system is located 3–5km off Chioggia (Tosi et al., 2017). The high variability at different spatial scales of the benthic assemblages in the Adriatic mesophotic biogenic habitats, in relation to local abiotic features, distance from the coast and outcrops, has been highlighted for both phyto and zoobenthos (Curiel et al., 2012; Ponti et al., 2011).

The onshore–offshore gradient of coastal freshwater inputs is the main driver of nutrient dynamics in the northern Adriatic Sea, playing an important role also in structuring the assemblages of the outcrops. These assemblages occur in three main typologies based on the abundance of encrusting calcar eous red algae, algal turfs, sponges and ascidians. Algal turfs, encrusting sponges (e.g. *Dictyonella incisa* (Schmidt, 1880) and *Antho* (*Antho*) *inconstans* (Topsent, 1925)) and bioeroders generally characterize large near shore reefs, strongly affected by riverine inputs. Encrusting calcareous red algae and colonial ascidians, e.g., *Polycitor adriaticus* (Drasche, 1883), dominate off shore reefs. Both algal turf and noncalcareous encrusting algae (e.g. *Peyssonnelia* spp.) are abundant, together with massive sponges (e.g. *Ircinia variabilis* (Schmidt, 1862), *Tedania* (*Tedania*) *anhelans* (Vio in Olivi, 1792) and *Chondrosia reniformis* Nardo, 1847) that occur on the outcrops (Falace et al., 2015; Fava et al., 2016; Ponti et al., 2011).

The Apulian coralligenous region has been known for decades (Parenzan, 1983; Sarà, 1966, 1968; Sarà and Pulitzer Finali, 1970) and it represents a key element of the seascape, covering about 38% of the seafloor between 10 and 100m depth (Bracchi et al., 2017). Here, coralligenous banks are predominant and these show the maximum spatial dominance both in the 10-40m and in the 70-90m depth ranges. At shallower bathymetric intervals (10-40 m depth), these formations occur both as coralligenous constructions sensu stricto and in mosaic form with Posidonia meadows (Bracchi et al., 2017). Also, the Apulian coralligenous region shows high spatial variability at different scales, highlighting the patchy and complex nature of these assemblages (Terlizzi et al., 2007). Several processes might generate the observed variabil ity. These include disturbance (Airoldi, 2000; Connell, 2005), topographic heterogeneity (Archambault and Bourget, 1999), pre and postsettlement bio logical interactions (Hunt and Scheibling, 1997; Sebens, 1986) and different patterns of growth (individual vs modular organisms: Jackson, 1977).

In the Ligurian Sea there are different typologies of coralligenous bio constructions likely due to the different geomorphology of the coast; biolog ical assemblages are similarly diverse, and some still need to be described in detail (Canessa et al., 2017; Cánovas Molina et al., 2013, 2014, 2016). The western and eastern coasts followed different formation patterns, leading to two major geological systems (Cattaneo Vietti et al., 2010). Along the eastern coast, coralligenous formations develop mainly on vertical cliffs with parallel series of horizontal rims, from 25–30m to 80–100m depth. Along the western side, vertical cliffs are not so common and the coast has a different geomor phology, with a wider sandy platform. The Western Ligurian Riviera has been poorly studied and rarely characterized due to its patchy distribution of isolated rocky outcrops and their limited extent.

Sardinia hosts a notable variety and abundance of coralligenous forma tions due to the complexity of the coast and to the shape of the sublittoral slope. In the Marine Protected Area (MPA) of Tavolara Punta Coda Cavallo five typologies were recognized: (i) enclaves within infralittoral assemblages on vertical walls, either carbonatic or granitic; (ii) on limestone pinnacles between 25 and 40 m depth; (iii) on granite inselbergs and other erosional remnants from 38 to 56 m depth; (iv) organogenic platforms at 42-44 m; and (v) on beach rocks at 27, 40 and 54 m (Bianchi et al., 2007). Five major coralligenous communities have been recognized and mapped: (1) associa tion with C. zosteroides; (2) facies with A. polypoides; (3) facies with Eunicella cavolini (Koch, 1887); (4) facies with Eunicella singularis (Esper, 1791); and (5) facies with *P. clavata* (Vassallo et al., 2018). Other rare and endangered species "typical" of the coralligenous populations can be found along the Sardinian coast, such as the exuberance of the Mediterranean red coral Corallium rubrum (Linnaeus, 1758) whose populations dwell on steep rocky walls free from sediments (Cau et al., 2015a, 2016). Dense E. cavolini facies have been documented along with rich and diverse animal forests dominated by gorgonian and black corals dwelling both in rocky outcrops arising from soft bottoms of the continental shelf and in submarine canyons dis secting the Sardinian continental margin, at a depth range comprised between 100 and 180 m (Bo et al., 2015; Cau et al., 2015b, 2017a,b). This condition, together with the existence of a nursery area for catsharks within the coral ramifications and the occurrence of a meadow of the now rare soft bottom alcyonacean Isidella elongata (Esper, 1788) in small surviving muddy enclaves, indicates that this ecosystem have to be considered a pristine Med iterranean deep sea coral sanctuary that would deserve special protection (Cau et al., 2017c).

Distribution of coralligenous formations along the Campania coast has been investigated since the end of XVIIIth century, mostly for economic reasons (red coral banks exploitation, Cattaneo Vietti et al., 2016). More recently, Appolloni et al. (2018) published a comprehensive map of coralligenous habitats in the Gulf of Naples. Most of the present studies have been performed by means of remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) so as to assess the status of deep assemblages associated to offshore shoals, and the effects of fishery pressures (Ferrigno et al., 2017).

Deep surveys carried out along the Calabrian coast through ROV rev ealed a mixed assemblage of the black coral *Antipathella subpinnata* (Ellis & Solander, 1786) and the sea fans *P. davata* and *E. cavolini* from 50 to 100 m depth in the Favazzina area. The extraordinary high density of this assemblage is due to the northward current from the Strait of Messina (Bo et al., 2009). In the Gulf of St. Eufemia, where currents slow down and sedimentation is high, arborescent sea fans (e.g. *Callogorgia verticillata* (Pallas, 1766), *Paramuricea macrospina* (Koch, 1882), *P. davata, Villogorgia bebrycoides* (Koch, 1887), *Leptogorgia sarmentosa* (Esper, 1789), *C. rubrum* and *Bebryce mollis* Philippi, 1842) and antipatharians (e.g. *A. subpinnata, Parantipathes larix* (Esper, 1788) and *Antipathes dichotoma* Pallas, 1766), as well as a rich sponge assemblage settle on coralligenous shoals arising from a muddy bottom. These habitats are small oases of hard substrata interspersed in a muddy bottom (Bo et al., 2011, 2012a).

Coralligenous banks were recently described in the Sicily channel as out crops of dome like pinnacles arising from a rocky plateau at about 100 m depth. Dense patches of the precious coral *C. rubrum* and of the sea fan *E. cavolini* characterize the macrobenthic assemblage of these coralligenous pillars. The lack of overlap between the two species suggests that they have different ecological requirements. In this area the illegal fishing of *C. rubrum* with trawling devices produces an intense impact on this peculiar assemblage (Cattaneo Vietti et al., 2017).

Finally, flourishing coralligenous assemblages dominated by filter feeding structuring species and a kelp canopy have been described also in offshore locations such as the Vercelli and Palinuro seamounts in the Tyrrhenian Sea between 60 and 120m depth (Bo et al., 2011; Würtz and Rovere, 2015).

2.2.4 Cladocora caespitosa Formations/Reefs

Morri et al. (2000a) listed eight coral species as potential bio constructors in the Mediterranean Sea. Five of them, *Dendrophyllia ramea* (Linnaeus, 1758), *Dendrophyllia cornigera* (Lamarck, 1816), *Madrepora oculata* Linnaeus, 1758, *Desmophyllum dianthus* (Esper, 1794) and *Lophelia pertusa* (Linnaeus, 1758), live in deep waters and will be treated later. Three species, *Madracis pharensis* (Heller, 1868), *Oculina patagonica* de Angelis, 1908,

and *Cladocora caespitosa* (Linnaeus, 1767), live in shallow water and are obligatorily or facultative zooxanthellate, i.e., they may harbour microalgal endosymbionts that are known to enhance coral calcification (Schuhmacher, 1984 and references therein).

The bioconstructions of C. caespitosa are the best known (Fig. 3B). This species, endemic to the Mediterranean Sea, exhibits growth rates that may exceed 5 mm year ¹ (Peirano et al., 1999) and calcification rates that average 1.1-1.7 kg CaCO₃ m⁻² vear⁻¹ (Rodolfo Metalpa et al., 1999), which is com parable to values of many tropical reef corals (Peirano et al., 2001). The col onies of C. caespitosa, obligatorily zooxanthellate, are common throughout the Mediterranean on rocks and pebbles about 3-30m depth, often in turbid water (Bianchi, 2009). When abundant, C. caespitosa may typically occur in two distinct formations: beds and banks (Morri et al., 2000b). Beds are com posed by numerous small (10-30 cm in diameter) subspherical colonies in dense populations. Banks are made up of large colonies, reaching several dec imetres in height and covering areas of several square metres. Banks originate from beds under conditions of undisturbed accretion by means of three mech anisms: (i) fusion of adjacent colonies; (ii) "pouring" of the build up due to gravity; and (iii) inclusion of satellite colonies (Peirano et al., 1998). Mixed distributions of beds and banks can also be found, while a third formation has been recently described: free living coral nodules or coralliths (Kersting et al., 2017a,b).

Banks are the most important bioconstructions of *C. caespitosa* and may deserve to be called reefs. They harbour a rich associated biota comprising several phyla (Antoniadou and Chintiroglou, 2010; Koukouras et al., 1998; Lumare, 1966), but no species seems exclusive to this habitat (Bianchi, 2009). In the Gulf of Trieste (North Adriatic Sea), Pitacco et al. (2014) esti mated 89 infauna taxa associated with *C. caespitosa* and the most abundant were molluscs (50%), followed by polychaetes (20%) and crustaceans (7%). Along the Italian coast (Fig. 3D), banks have been described in the Gulf of Manfredonia (Colantoni and Gallignani, 1975), the Ionian Sea (Lumare, 1966), the Ligurian Sea (Morri et al., 1994b) and the Gulf of Trieste (Pitacco et al., 2014; Zunino et al., 2018).

2.2.5 Vermetid Reefs

Vermetids are sessile and gregarious prosobranch gastropods of the family Vermetidae, widely distributed in the warm southern waters of the Medi terranean Sea (Keen, 1961), where their reefs or platforms are built up by a complex of four cryptic species, all previously named *Dendropoma petraeum* (Monterosato, 1884) (Fig. 4A). Templado et al. (2016) split the old taxon





Fig. 4 (A) A vermetid reef platform and its hypothetical section. The *circle* represents a close up of the rugged tubular shells of *D. cristatum* adults, sometimes cemented by the coralline alga *N. brassica-florida*. The shell openings of *Dendropoma* are sealed by a chitinous operculum. (B) The distribution of vermetid reefs along the Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area. Boundaries of points of data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panel (A): Alberto Gennari.*

D. petraeum into four species, two of which are widespread along the Italian coasts: *Dendropoma cristatum* (Biondi, 1859) in the Tyrrhenian Sea, and *Dendropoma* sp., a still unnamed species, in the Ionian Sea and the Salento Peninsula (Templado et al., 2016).

The vermetid reef or "trottoir à vermets" (according to Molinier and Picard, 1953) is a biogenic formation bordering the rocky shores at the tide level. They have very different morphologies (Antonioli et al., 1999), but on the most developed vermetid reef platforms an outer and an inner margin can be identified. The outer margin is the most biologically active portion of the platform expanding seaward and it is composed of a rich layer of Dendropoma shells and Neogoniolithon brassica-florida (Harvey) Setchell & L.R. Mason encrusting thalli. The inner margin, instead, is less dense of Dendropoma individuals and it is subjected to emersion during low tide. Between the two margins, shallow depressions-the cuvettes (Molinier and Picard, 1953; Pérès and Picard, 1952)-can be found, which usually hold water during low tide and calm sea and are covered by perennial canopy forming brown algae and encrusting organisms. Below the outer margin, the vermetid reef is usually fringed by a characteristic upper subtidal belt made by the canopy forming alga Cystoseira amentacea var. stricta Montagne. Dendropoma snails and N. brassicaflorida encrustations can be supported in the process of bioconstruction by other intertidal organisms, namely, the foraminiferan Miniacina miniacea (Pallas, 1766), the coralline algae Lithophyllum incrustans Philippi, L. byssoides and Neogoniolithon mamillosum (Hauck) Setchell & L.R. Mason, by some encrusting bryozoans, and the solitary vermetid Vermetus triquetrus Bivona Bernardi, 1832 (Safriel, 1975). The bioconstruction is also subjected to strong bioerosion from a rich group of boring organisms such as sponges, bivalves and sipunculid worms (Bressan et al., 2001).

In Italy (Fig. 4B), most of the vermetid reefs are in northern Sicily, between Milazzo Cape and the Egadi Islands (Chemello, 2009; Milazzo et al., 2017). Some concretions are also reported in southeastern Sicily between Catania and Syracuse, and on the Pelagian, Aeolian and Ustica Islands (Chemello, 2009). To date, information on vermetid bioconcretions in the rest of Italy is scarce: small vermetid ledges are reported at Ischia Island, in the Gulf of Naples (Scuderi et al., 1998; Soppelsa et al., 2007) and on the NE coast of Sardinia (Schiaparelli et al., 2003), likely representing the north ernmost records of this vermetid formation. In the south, some records also exist for the Apulia and Calabria coasts (see Chemello and Silenzi, 2011), while in the Campania region, reef formations are only present along a por tion of the coast around the Licosa islet and also on some close submerged old walls (Donnarumma et al., 2018).

2.2.6 Sabellariid Reefs

Two polychaete species, *Sabellaria alveolata* (Linnaeus, 1767) and *Sabellaria spinulosa* (Leuckart, 1849), family Sabellariidae are reported for the Mediterranean Sea. The first one is a bioengineer that builds relevant biogenic structures, while the second one is mostly solitary, but can construct small clumps.

Sabellariid reefs are compact bioconstructions resulting from the aggre gation of tubes made up of sand grains and bioclasts, cemented with mucus, which develop on both solid and soft bottoms (Fig. 5A). The worms construct these tubes around themselves, in close proximity to one another,



Fig. 5 (A) Sabellariid reefs on soft bottoms. (B) Distribution of sabellariid reefs along Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area. Boundaries of points of data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panel (A): Alberto Gennari.*

creating a honeycomb like structure, hence the name "honeycomb worms" for these polychaetes. The larvae settle mainly on existing *Sabellaria* reefs or on their dead remains, and in marine shallow areas where suitable sedimen tological and hydrodynamic conditions occur. These bioconstructions require a good supply of sand grains and a strong water movement and can develop as thin crusts, mounds and hummocks, to tubular or barrier like aggregations (Delbono et al., 2003).

Sabellaria bioconstructions occur along the midlittoral–upper infralittoral zone, from the lower shore into the sublittoral, arising from the sandy sea floor or they can form banks adhering to hard bottoms. They often reach the sea surface and remain exposed at low tide. The Mediterranean *S. spinulosa* reef does not host a distinctive associated fauna (Gravina et al., 2018), while the faunal characterization of Italian *S. alveolata* reefs revealed the preferen tial and stable association with the phyllodocid polychaete *Eulalia ornata* Saint Joseph, 1888 along their range (Bertocci et al., 2017; Schimmenti et al., 2016). In general, the sabellariid reef provides an array of microhabitats suitable for the settlement of many hard and sandy bottom species, thus char acterizing it as an important hot spot of biodiversity (Cole and Chapman, 2007; Dubois et al., 2002, 2006).

Along the Italian coasts, *Sabellaria* reefs have been reported from the coasts of Liguria (Delbono et al., 2003), Latium (Giordani Soika, 1956; La Porta and Nicoletti, 2009; Taramelli Rivosecchi, 1961), Southern Sicily (Bertocci et al., 2017; Molinier and Picard, 1953; Schimmenti et al., 2016), Apulia (Gravina et al., 2018; Lisco et al., 2017), Abruzzo (Gadaleta et al., 2015) and Marche and Emilia Romagna (unpublished data) (Fig. 5B). The reefs occurring in the Tyrrhenian Sea and in the Sicily Strait are built by the species *S. alveolata* or by aggregations of tubes of both the sabellariid species, with *S. alveolata* resulting the dominant bioconstructor (Bertocci et al., 2017), while for the first time in the Mediterranean Sea, real reef struc tures constructed by *S. spinulosa* have been reported along the Apulian coasts (Gravina et al., 2018; Lisco et al., 2017). Recently, *S. spinulosa* reefs have been reported in the Southern Adriatic near San Foca (Lecce), seemingly outcompeting and overgrowing *P. oceanica* meadow at its upper limit, 1.5 m depth (S. Piraino, unpublished observations).

2.2.7 Cold-Water Coral Frameworks

Among the cold water corals (CWCs), *M. oculata* and *L. pertusa* are certainly the most charismatic building deep marine bioconstructions in the Mediter ranean Sea (Fig. 6A). These colonial species, together with the solitary





Fig. 6 (A) Cold-water corals (*L. pertusa* and *M. oculata*) in the deep sea. (B) distribution of living cold-water corals along Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area. Boundaries of points of data layers are enhanced for illustrative purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent. *Panel (A): Alberto Gennari.*

pseudo reef forming coral *D. dianthus*, are also known as "white corals" (Pérès and Picard, 1964; Roberts et al., 2006). CWCs can live in large (monospecific or mixed) aggregations that change the structural heterogeneity of the environment, hence acting as habitat formers from 200 to 1000 m depth (Chimienti et al., 2018b; Freiwald et al., 2009; Lo Iacono et al., 2018; Mastrototaro et al., 2010). The great biodiversity associated with CWCs

can be separated into functional groups based on the ways in which the fauna uses the coral habitat and its complex substrata (Henry and Roberts, 2017). It comprises microscopic fauna associated with the coral biofilm, macro benthic grazers, deposit feeders and small benthic predators that find refuge among reef polyps, coral branches and other microhabitats, as well as larger sessile suspension and filter feeding epifauna. Many benthopelagic and ben thic demersal fish communities also visit the CWC frameworks to forage, find refuge and breed. Mediterranean CWCs reefs account so far for over 500 asso ciated species (Rueda et al., 2018).

CWCs were once considered as being present in the Mediterranean Sea only as dead skeletal remains from the Pleistocene, the postglacial conditions having arrested their development (Delibrias and Taviani, 1985). Their sup posed extinction was disproved with the advent of the deep sea exploration technologies, first by occasional findings of living colonies (e.g. Fredj and Laubier, 1985; Mastrototaro et al., 2002; Tunesi and Diviacco, 1997), soon followed by the discovery of lush CWC sites, with highly developed bio constructions (Chimienti et al., 2018a,b). At least 20 living white coral occurrences are known so far for Italian and Maltese waters and, at four of these sites, the substantial coral growth and high colony density define true CWC provinces (Taviani et al., 2011, 2016, 2017). These are located in the Northern Ionian Sea (Santa Maria di Leuca), in the Southwestern Adriatic Sea (Bari Canyon), in the Strait of Sicily (South Malta) and in the Sardinia Sea (Nora Canvon: Taviani et al., 2017; Tavolara and Coda Cavallo Canyons: Chimienti et al., 2018b; D. Moccia et al., personal com munication) (Fig. 6B). Only two more coral provinces have been currently recognized within the Mediterranean basin: in the Gulf of Lion and in the eastern Alboran Sea (Taviani et al., 2016). So far, the Italian seas play a crucial role in the presence and distribution of CWC bioconstructions. Several abiotic factors such as suitable substrate, water temperature, oxygen concen tration and water flow regimes influence their occurrence, distribution and abundance in the deep sea (Gori et al., 2013; Roberts et al., 2009b). In particular, appropriate currents are needed for an adequate trophic supply and for preventing coral smothering by sediments; these are one of the main drivers in CWC distribution (Carlier et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2009a). The Levantine Intermediate Water (LIW), formed in the northern portion of the eastern Mediterranean and flowing westward, together with the cascading of cold water from the Northern Adriatic cold engine towards the Ionian Sea, has a profound influence on CWC growth and distribution (Freiwald et al., 2009; Taviani et al., 2016).

2.2.8 Serpulid Reefs, Including Biostalactites

Serpulidae are a large family of polychaetes that produce a calcareous tube in which they live (Bianchi, 1981). Tubes typically encrust any hard substrate and may be considered "secondary framework builders", filling crevices and cementing rubble in coralligenous reefs and other marine bioconstructions (Bianchi et al., 1995). The scissiparous species Salmacina dysteri (Huxley, 1855) may form large "pseudocolonies", which are nevertheless very fragile and do not exhibit any significant constructional capacity (Bianchi and Morri, 2000). In contrast, some gregarious species can grow erect attached to each other, thus acting as "primary frame builders" and forming huge aggregates (Aliani et al., 1996). The individual tubes are small (rarely longer than 10 cm or wider than 1 cm), but their aggregations can form reef like structures more than 1m thick that may cover tens of square metres (Bianchi et al., 1995). Serpulid reefs are well known in the geological past (Fagerstrom, 1987), and mass occurrences of recent serpulid species have been reported from many sites (Ten Hove, 1979). In Italy, major serpulid reefs, formed by Ficopomatus enigmaticus (Fauvel, 1923) or Hydroides dianthus (Verrill, 1873), have been described from brackish lagoons (Bianchi and Morri, 1996, 2001), but these will not be further discussed here.

In fully marine waters, serpulids may develop conspicuous assemblages in submarine caves, even encrusting preexisting speleothemes, as first described for the Mediterranean by Ten Hove and Van Den Hurk (1993) and in Italy by Bianchi and Morri (1994) and Antonioli et al. (2001). Particular serpulid structures in submarine caves are the so called bio stalactites. They develop in completely dark parts based on single (e.g. Cape of Otranto) or few (e.g. Plemmirio Islands) (Fig. 7C) serpulid species, whose aggregations become substrate for smaller invertebrates and bacteria (Belmonte et al., 2009; Guido et al., 2012). Biostalactites grow far from the entrance on rocky walls where generally Serpulidae dominate (Bussotti et al., 2006) and where other benthic species are less competitive. Bio stalactites can protrude a few cm from the basal substrate (Plemmirio) but also up to 2m (Cape of Otranto, Fig. 7A) and they can be also oblique or horizontal. Freshwater inflows (even intermittent) seem to favour their formation. The engineering species always have been referred to the genus Protula, but recent genetic analyses of the Otranto species showed the existence of a still unnamed species. The growth of Otranto biostalactites started about 6000 years ago, corresponding with the sea level during its postglacial rise (Belmonte et al., 2009, 2016). The outer surfaces of the biostalactites are encrusted by living and dead fauna of several invertebrate





Fig. 7 (A) Biostalactites in a submarine cave at the Cape of Otranto (Onorato et al., 2003).(B) View of a longitudinal section. The *magnified image* shows the serpulid tubes that form the core of the bioconstruction, in a carbonate matrix of bacterial origin. (C) Biostalactite distribution along the Italian coast. *Points* represent data with no associated surface area. Boundaries of points of data layers are enhanced for illustra11585640072tive purposes and do not reflect the real habitat extent.

groups (Onorato et al., 2003; Sanfilippo et al., 2015). Serpulidae and Bryozoa are the dominant taxonomic groups, followed by Porifera and Foraminifera. Other invertebrates, such as Bivalvia, Brachiopoda, Hydrozoa, Anthozoa, Cirripedia and Polychaeta Terebellidae, are relatively rare.

3. PROCESSES

3.1 Building/Bioeroding Processes and the Age of Bioconstructions

The growth of these bioconstructions depends on a positive balance between building and bioeroding processes (e.g. Garrabou and Ballesteros, 2000). Cor alline macroalgae of the genera *Mesophyllum*, *Lithophyllum* and *Neogoniolithon* provide the greatest contribution to coralligenous bioconstructions (Ballesteros, 2006). Several species of the genus *Peyssonnelia*, mostly *Peyssonnelia heteromorpha* (Zanardini) Athanasiadis and *Peyssonnelia rosa-marina* Boudouresque & Denizot, also participate in the building process as do as many calcified nonphotosynthetic organisms, such as the foraminiferan *M. miniacea*, cnidarians and bryozoans. Molluscs and serpulid polychaetes can play a minor constructive role.

Cyanobacteria (e.g. *Hyella caespitosa* Bornet & Flahault, 1888; *Mastigocoleus testarum* Lagerheim ex Bornet & Flahault, 1886; *Leptolyngbya terebrans* (Bornet & Flahault ex Gomont) Anagnostidis & Komárek, 1988), perforating sponges (e.g. *Cliona celata* Grant, 1826 and *Cliona viridis* (Schmidt, 1862)), bor ing molluscs (e.g. *Hiatella arctica* (Linnaeus, 1767), *Rocellaria dubia* (Pennant, 1777) and *Lithophaga* (Linnaeus, 1758)), sipunculids (e.g. *Aspidosiphon muelleri* Diesing, 1851) and grazing sea urchins (e.g. *Sphaerechinus granularis* (Lamarck, 1816)) often erode or dissolve coralligenous bioconstructions (Ballesteros, 2006; Sartoretto, 1998; Sartoretto and Francour, 1997).

The bioconstruction process in CWC reefs is mainly due to the branched stony corals *M. oculata* and *L. pertusa*. When solitary corals such as *D. dianthus* settle on these colonies, they can contribute also. Moreover, a symbiotic inter action with the polychaete *Eunice norvegica* (Linnaeus, 1767) seems to signifi cantly help the bioconstruction process (Mueller et al., 2013). This species forms parchment like tubes within living coral branches that are later calcified by the coral (Buhl Mortensen, 2001). In particular, *E. norvegica* is mainly involved in strengthening the reef structure by thickening and connecting coral branches (Roberts, 2005; Tursi et al., 2004). In addition, massive sponges such as *Pachastrella monilifera* Schmidt, 1868 and *Poecillastra compressa* (Bowerbank, 1866) can form mixed grounds with CWCs, as it happens in Santa Maria di Leuca and in the Bari Canyon (Bo et al., 2012b; Longo et al., 2005).

A suite of endolithic assemblages of microborers (i.e. bacteria, fungi and foraminiferans) and macroborers (i.e. sponges) bioerode CWC bio constructions. The main macroboring sponges belong to the genera *Cliona* and *Spiroxya* (Longo et al., 2005). The bioerosion process seems to be

represented by a bioerosion succession, generally beginning with the infes tation of bacteria and fungi, followed by other species. Bioerosion predom inantly affects the dead parts of the coral skeleton (Beuck and Freiwald, 2005), but in stressed corals the infestation can increase and also affect living areas.

Some Mediterranean bioconstructions can be ephemeral and rapidly degrade once the bioconstructors die, such as Sabellaria reefs, whereas others remain stable for millennia, such as coralligenous formations. The rims of L. byssoides are fairly persistent: in conditions of stable sea level they can grow for centuries, up to 900-1000 years (Faivre et al., 2013; Verlague, 2010). Many large rims currently present in the Mediterranean Sea were formed during two periods of global cooling in which the sea level was stable (Dark Age Cold Period, AD 450-950, and during the Little Ice Age, AD 1400–1850, Faivre et al., 2013). The bioconstruction activity of L. byssoides produces a very hard calcareous rock that is only eroded slowly, and which maintains the integrity of the rim for a long time, so that its ecosystem engineering function persists even when the living alga is no longer present. Unfortunately, in the last decades, reports of deteriorated L. byssoides rims have become increasingly frequent (Faivre et al., 2013; Laborel et al., 1993; Verlaque, 2010) and а careful monitoring of these structures is now urgently needed.

Coralligenous pinnacles dating back 6207 years from the Ionian Sea (Bertolino et al., 2017b) showed a core partially made up by serpulid (*Protula* sp.) remains, a feature in common with other bioherms studied in the Southern Ionian Sea (Di Geronimo et al., 2002) and with pseudo stalactites found in several marine caves from the Aegean and Ionian Seas (Guido et al., 2013; Sanfilippo et al., 2017). Moreover, the sediments trapped in the crevices of these bioherms can host a high number of embedded siliceous spicules that have been considered to be a good proxy for evaluating changes of sponge biodiversity on a millennial timescale (Bertolino et al., 2013, 2017a,b).

The age of the deepest coralligenous bioherms can be traced back also to 8000 years ago (Ballesteros, 2006), whereas coralligenous platforms from shallower waters were dated to around 6000 years ago (Bertolino et al., 2017a). Generally speaking, these biostructures began to grow along the Mediterranean coast when the effects of ice cap melting were still very relevant, due to glacio–hydro–isostatic processes and tectonic uplifts (Pirazzoli, 2005) and the sea level was from 13.5 to 16.5 m lower than at present (Sivan et al., 2001). Under these conditions, the calcification rate was facilitated,

leading to a quick growth of these bioherms. However, the accumulation rates appeared low $(0.006-0.83 \text{ mm year}^{-1})$, oscillating greatly with different depths and time periods (Ballesteros, 2006; Garrabou and Ballesteros, 2000; Sartoretto et al., 1996; Teixidó et al., 2011). The highest rates $(0.20-0.83 \text{ mm vear}^{-1})$ were recorded between 8000 and 5000 years BP. In more recent times, appre ciable radiocarbon accumulation rates of 0.11-0.42 mm year ¹ have been recorded only for bioherms growing in relatively shallow waters (10-35 m depth) (Bertolino et al., 2013), while an average growth rate of about 0.15 mm year ¹ was measured on coralligenous pillars from the Ionian Sea (Bertolino et al., 2017b), a rate comparable with that recorded by Di Geronimo et al. (2002) for similar pillars (0.27 mm year¹) in the southern Ionian Sea. Radiocarbon dating in bioherms from different localities of the Ligurian Sea indicated average growth rates ranging from of 0.03 to 0.05 mm year¹ over 3000 years (Bertolino et al., 2013). In some cases, the growth of the bioherms showed an incoherent and chaotic temporal growth pattern (Bertolino et al., 2017a), with older layers overlapping younger ones. This phenomenon could be related to favourable periods for carbonate deposition, alternating with partial destruction phases due, for example, to intense mud deposition after episodes of intense floods (Fig. 8).

In the northern Adriatic continental shelf, biogenic frameworks are generally superimposed on hard bottoms of still debated origin. Marine sediments may be consolidated by methane related calcium carbonate cementation, thanks to seepage of CH₄ rich fluids, observable near many offshore reefs (Gordini et al., 2012). Meandering shaped morphologies and the distributions of many reefs, especially those off Chioggia, suggest the importance of Pleistocenic rivers, Holocene tidal channels and beach bars which are initial substrate for current coralligenous build ups. The lithification of these sandy palaeochannels is estimated to have started from 7000 years BP, likely due to the interaction between marine and less saline fluids related to onshore freshwater discharge at sea through a sealed water table (Tosi et al., 2017).

Sabellaria bioconstructions, which are formed from tubes made by sand grains, are mostly ephemeral. They strictly depend on the balance between bottom sediment features and water movement, supplying sand and particles for tube building and growth. Sabellaria larvae show preferential settlement either onto living bioconstructions or onto their ruins, so ensuring reef persistence and recovery. Hence, the age of these bioconstruction greatly exceeds the age of the living worms, since the reef may repeatedly follow a cyclical progression of settlement, growth and destruction phases



Fig. 8 Hypothetical evolutionary scenario of the coralligenous accretions of Bogliasco. (A) In a first phase the algal growth results in pillar-like bioherm. (B) Bottom sediments increase during periods of heavy floods, partially or totally burying the pillars and killing the algal cover. (C) During the burying or after the removal of the sediments, part of the structure becomes prone to erosive processes, giving rise to mushroom-like structures. (D) In following phases, the coralline algae grow again in sciaphilous microhabitats, determining the irregular temporal layering of the structure (the *numbers 1–4* indicate different sheets of deposition from the oldest to the youngest). In this situation, in a core sample (*dotted rectangle*), younger sheets can overlap with older ones.

(Gruet, 1971–1972). Tube growth rates range from 4.4 to 6 mm day¹ (Hendrick and Foster Smith, 2006) and the complete cycle requires from several months to more than 10 years (Gruet, 1986). The S. spinulosa reef recorded along the Apulian coasts showed cyclical fluctuations over a period of 1 year (Gravina et al., 2018). Little is known about the duration of fluc tuations taken by older biogenic structures in palaeontological timescales (Schäfer, 1972). More recently, historical data from the North Sea have documented the persistence of Sabellaria reefs over a period of approximately 1 century (Firth et al., 2015). A documented age of 60 years was revealed for some Italian S. alveolata reefs. Indeed, previous studies dating back to the 1950s (Giordani Soika, 1956; Molinier and Picard, 1953; Taramelli Rivosecchi, 1961) report extensive bioconstructions from the Latium and Sicily coasts, with detailed descriptions consistent with the present observations from the same sites (M.F. Gravina, personal observations; Schimmenti et al., 2016). Along the Adriatic coasts, at Torre del Cerrano, structural changes of

S. spinulosa bioconstructions showed a Sabellaria-Mytilus succession spreading

over a period of 15 years (Gadaleta et al., 2015). However, no historical data are available on the age of the *S. spinulosa* reef off Apulian coast, only recently dis covered to be an actual "reef" (Gravina et al., 2018).

M. oculata and *L. pertusa* are able to build huge bioconstructions that can exceed 1 m in height and width per colony (e.g. Angeletti et al., 2014; Taviani et al., 2017), which remain after the death of the coral, providing an exploitable hard substrate for many associated species (Mastrototaro et al., 2010; Vertino et al., 2010). On a geological timescale, such highly structured bioconstructions can produce true carbonate mounds that some times endure for many hundred thousand to millions of years of discontin uous coral succession (Taviani et al., 2011).

Biostalactite building is mainly due to serpulid tubes that do not lie on the substrate but which elevate the worm crowns by several centimetres. This living stage, however, is still far from the final aspect of the biostalactite, as worm tubes become embedded in a thick calcareous coat of bacterial origin. Guido et al. (2014) described a commensal symbiotic link between worms and bacteria: these use organic matter coming from the worms that, in their turn, build their tubes with mineral pelites of bacterial origin. The tubes are made of biotic carbonate, and those in the Otranto biostalactites have ages that have been dated by the ¹⁴C method (Belmonte et al., 2009, 2016). The elongation/growth of three 50 cm biostalactites required thousands of years, starting during the last postglacial period when the sea level rose to the present level and submerged the cave (about 6000 years ago). The measured slow growth (50 cm in 6000 years) however, when compared with the growth of each serpulid tube (some centimetres in few years), still awaits an explanation.

3.2 Connectivity

Connectivity affects marine population dynamics (Moritz et al., 2013) and community responses to pressures (Wasserman et al., 2012) and is important conservation decisions for in both reserve network design (Boero et al., 2016; Cerdeira et al., 2010) and restoration actions (Raeymaekers et al., 2008). Knowledge on the connectivity of different bioconstructions is limited, though a variety of techniques have been developed to fill this gap such as genetic analyses, dispersal simulation models and β diversity studies.

3.2.1 Genetic Connectivity

Bioconstructors have a low dispersal capability compared to actively motile organisms, such as fish and marine mammals and reptiles, so might be expected to have a lower population connectivity. In fact, dispersal in bioconstructors relies exclusively on larvae and propagules, whose duration is often limited However, this hypothesis requires in time. testing, since the relationship between pelagic larval duration (PLD) and genetic structure is far from linear, and the larval/propagule biology of bioconstructors is itself often poorly known. For animals, several recent reviews showed a poor correlation between PLD and population genetic structure, suggesting that patterns of connectivity in the marine realm are difficult to predict based on life history features alone (Costantini et al., 2018; Riginos et al., 2011; Weersing and Toonen, 2009). Usually, small scale genetic structuring is consistent with short PLD, often contrasting with species with long living larvae (Pascual et al., 2017). Moreover, at larger spatial scales, other biotic (e.g. presettlement processes) and/or abiotic (e.g. hydrodynamics, geomorphology) variables may shape the genetic structuring of populations.

So far, genetic connectivity of animal bioconstructors and benthic organ isms inhabiting Mediterranean bioconstructions is poorly known. The few available studies have focused mainly on Porifera, Cnidaria, Echinodermata and Tunicata, using mitochondrial and microsatellite genetic markers (Costantini et al., 2017). An analysis of a wider array of invertebrates living in bioconstructions is highly desirable, but is currently limited by the lack of knowledge on life histories and distributions, and by the availability of species specific genetic markers (Adjeroud et al., 2014; Casado Amezua et al., 2011, 2012; Costantini et al., 2017).

The 2b RAD Genotyping by Sequencing technique (Wang et al., 2012) is useful for genotyping a high number of SNP markers across the entire genome in nonmodel organisms (Paterno et al., 2017). Its application to several hundred individuals of five of the most abundant species in Mediterranean coralligenous reefs (Leptopsammia pruvoti Lacaze Duthiers, 1897, C. caespitosa, Myriapora truncata (Pallas, 1766), Parazoanthus axinellae (Schmidt, 1862) and P. davata) collected in all Italian seas revealed a strong and highly significant genetic structuring among populations for all species (Costantini et al., 2018; L. Zane and E. Boscari, unpublished observations). Each species showed geographical differentiation, with a high percentage of genetic variation explained by population subdivision, indicating strong isolation between samples. Genetic data for the five species indicated that the strongest barriers to gene flow were between the western (Tyrrhenian and Ligurian Seas) and the eastern (Adriatic and Ionian Seas) samples. This result suggests that genetic data, besides showing isolation between sites, keep a trace of historical processes and contemporary factors leading to and maintaining the separation of the two basins. However, strong differences

were also evident within each geographic area, since all the pairwise compar isons were highly significant, including those involving the closest sampling sites (about 70 km for *C. caespitosa*, *M. truncata* and *P. clavata*, and about 5 km for *L. pruvoti*). Similarly, previous studies on coralligenous cnidarians, based on microsatellites (*C. rubrum*, *E. singularis* and *P. clavata*) (Cannas et al., 2015, 2016; Costantini et al., 2016a,b, 2017; Mokhtar Jamaï et al., 2011; Pilczynska et al., 2016), showed populations structuring at different spatial scales (from local to Mediterranean) and a strong differentiation among patches separated by distances ranging from tens of kilometres to metres. Thus, both the 2b RAD approach and previous microsatellite results support the hypoth esis of negligible dispersal, even at the very local scale, which may be caused by the very short duration of the free swimming larval stage. These results indicate a much higher structuring in bioconstructors than is shown in fish and other invertebrates over comparable areas (Boissin et al., 2016; Paterno et al., 2017).

Information concerning genetic connectivity in algal bioconstructors is limited. In general, molecular data for Mediterranean macroalgae are still scarce (and have been produced mainly in studies with a taxonomic focus). Coralline algae of the genera Lithophyllum, Mesophyllum, Lithothamnion and Neogoniolithon produce the largest algal bioconstructions in the Mediterra nean Sea, and these sessile algae disperse by means of nonflagellate spores (bispores, carpospores, tetraspores). Red algal spores are small cells with lim ited active movement and are devoid of storage substances: they settle only on hard substrata and remain viable for only a few days (Norton, 1992; Santelices, 1990). Although their dispersal is substantially affected by the velocity of waves and water currents, these propagules do not disperse more than a few kilometres, with most of them settling much closer to the parental source (Gaylord et al., 2002). Furthermore, the calcareous nature of the thallus prevents long distance dispersal by floating, a mecha nism known to be important for other morphological types of seaweeds (Norton, 1992). A strong genetic structuring can be expected for Mediter ranean coralline bioconstructors, and this hypothesis is supported by data available for the only species investigated in detail, L. byssoides. Pezzolesi et al. (2017) sequenced 2 organellar markers in populations of this species from 15 sites in the Central Mediterranean, for which they found high haplotype diversity. The observed patterns did not show a clear correspon dence with the main biogeographic boundaries recognized in this area (Patarnello et al., 2007); they were interpreted as a result of both past climatic events in the hydrogeological history of the Mediterranean and by poor propagule dispersal. L. byssoides spores are able to settle and germinate only

in the intertidal; it can therefore be presumed that populations separated by stretches of sea or sandy shore extending for tens of kilometres have very limited genetic connectivity. Data from subtidal Corallinales are presently not available.

The role of both physical (hydrodynamics, currents, waves, tide, winds) and biological factors (PLD, larval growth and lifespan, larval behaviour, spawning time) is crucial to explain connectivity among *Sabellaria* bio constructions in the intertidal zone, where they occur as irregular patchy banks. Larval dispersal and potential connectivity have been modelled for *Sabellaria* reefs in the English Channel, which are the largest known reefs in Europe, and this work has revealed the crucial role played by hydrody namic and meteorological conditions on larval dispersion along coastal areas (Ayata et al., 2009). To face deficiency of information about potential and realized connectivity among *Sabellaria* populations in the Italian seas, the reefs occurring along the Tyrrhenian coasts (Latium) are presently being studied in terms of genetic connectivity and using a biophysical modelling approach which simulates larval dispersal under hydrodynamic and meteorological spatial scales (Bonifazi, 2018).

Deep sea connectivity among species and habitats is still poorly known (Hilário et al., 2015). The LIW and the cascading of Northern Adriatic waters into the Ionian Sea are the main conveyor belts sustaining active CWC growth in the Mediterranean Sea. These water masses can be possible vectors for larval dispersal, connecting the different coral sites and provinces of the basin (Chimienti et al., 2018b). Genetic connectivity among the different sites in the Mediterranean Sea and with the Atlantic Ocean has yet to be comprehensively studied.

Connectivity among biostalactites in different caves is unknown. These structures have been only recently described in detail and the currently avail able information from different geographic sites most probably does not refer to the same engineer species. Further, the *Protula* species responsible for the Otranto biostalactites is new to science (Causio et al., 2015) and is still poorly known. No other populations of this species are known at the present, but even the connections among close caves in the same area (the Cape of Otranto) are unstudied and information on the production and dispersal of larvae or propagules of any type is lacking.

3.2.2 Connectivity Models

Since wide scale spatial and temporal sampling with a high degree of reso lution is often impossible, researchers tend to turn to models in order to

investigate marine connectivity (Kool et al., 2012). Dispersal models repre sent a valid methodological approach to identify patterns of potential con nectivity among marine bioconstructions. Recently, a dispersal model driven by satellite mapping of ocean currents was developed to evaluate the potential connectivity between coralligenous assemblages of the central Mediterranean Sea (Ingrosso et al., 2017a; Fig. 9). The model was param etrized using the distribution of coralligenous formations in different marine subregions (Fig. 9A) along with information on the dispersal capacity of the Mediterranean scleractinian coral C. caespitosa, as a typical coralligenous bio constructor species. The model proved to be efficient in summarizing some important features of the coralligenous network: high internal connectivity was detected in the Eastern Central Tyrrhenian, South Adriatic and Sardinia Sea, whereas, considering the amount of propagule exchanged among marine zones, the Strait of Sicily and the Northern Tyrrhenian Sea were the main sink and source sites, respectively. The South Eastern Tyrrhenian Sea emerged as a critical stepping stone area within the general connectivity network (Fig. 9C), on the contrary the North Adriatic Sea was the most iso lated and poorly connected. These preliminary results were just indicative and must be confirmed by in situ genetic data.

3.2.3 β -Diversity of Bioconstructions

 β Diversity, the spatial turnover of species composition across latitudinal and environmental gradients, was first introduced to formally link local (α) to regional (γ) species richness (Whittaker, 1960). β Diversity can be seen as the contribution to regional species richness that comes from spatial hetero geneity within the same habitat or from species accumulation across habitats. This concept is receiving increasing interest because it captures fundamental processes that maintain biodiversity at multiple scales. For example, at local scales, β diversity may be promoted by habitat specialization and strong biotic interactions, whereas, at larger scales, such as along environmental and latitudinal gradients, β diversity may reflect habitat filtering and dispersal limitation (Anderson et al., 2011; Gaston et al., 2007a,b; Kraft et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013; Tuomisto et al., 2003).

 β Diversity also offers insights into how species assemblages respond to anthropogenic influences (Socolar et al., 2016). Habitat fragmentation, spe cies introductions and the establishment of protected areas may increase or decrease β diversity depending on the prevalence of processes that enhance or reduce variation in species composition among sites. For example, human interventions that increase species connectivity, such as the provision of



Fig. 9 Connectivity model of coralligenous habitat in the Central Mediterranean Sea. (A) Spatial distribution of coralligenous areas used in the connectivity analysis and boundaries of Mediterranean subregions according to Bianchi (2004) and Relini (2008). (Continued)

corridors, will increase dispersal and this effect should result in reduced spa tial turnover in species composition, enhancing the homogeneity of species assemblages. Thus, β diversity may be used as an indirect measure of species connectivity (Thrush et al., 2010). Low values of β diversity (i.e. high similarity of species composition) among sites featured by common environ mental conditions can be a consequence of a high connectivity among

them through propagule dispersal. However, high values of β diversity (corresponding to low similarity in species composition) can provide evidence of isolation only after the exclusion of the influence of postsettlement processes. In fact, dissimilar assemblages could actually be well connected through larval and propagule dispersal and the low similarity could be the result of postsettlement mortality events, which may be different across sites. Instead, if the differences are really due to low connectivity, compositional differences should be evident at the initial steps of settlement and/or recruit ment in experimentally manipulated plots. Thus, β diversity is suitable for identifying connections between populations and communities, although a high species turnover does not necessarily imply a lack of connectivity.

All this implies the need to combine and integrate β diversity analyses with other tools and approaches.

 β Diversity has received little attention in biogenic assemblages. Balata et al. (2007) showed that increased sedimentation reduced β diversity on western Mediterranean biogenic reefs, muffling natural differences in species composition between vertical and horizontal substrata. This result supports the importance of β diversity as a measure that can readily capture changes in biogenic assemblages. The analysis of β diversity may reveal the pro cesses that shape assemblages on bioconstructions, especially in low subtidal environments (30–50 m depth, as in coralligenous formations). These for mations thrive in environments that are generally less variable than shallower

Fig. 9—Cont'd (B) Visualization of a 30-day larval dispersal based on AVISO current data. (C) Potential coralligenous connectivity in the different subregions. The node dimension is proportional to the coralligenous area and the line width reflects the intensity of connections. Acronyms: Central Adriatic (C-Adr), Corsica Sea (CorSea), Eastern-Central Tyrrhenian (EC-Tyr), Eastern-Southern Tyrrhenian (ES-Tyr), Ligurian Sea (LigSea), Northern Adriatic (N-Adr), Northern Ionian (N-Ion), Northern Tyrrhenian (N-Tyr), Sardinia Channel (SarCha), Sardinia Sea (SarSea), Southern Adriatic (S-Adr), Southern Ionian (S-Ion), Strait of Sicily (StrSic), Western-Central Tyrrhenian (WC-Tyr), Western–Southern Tyrrhenian (WS-Tyr). *Panel (A): From Martin, C.S., Giannoulaki, M., De Leo, F., Scardi, M., Salomidi, M., Knittweis, L., et al., 2014. Coralligenous and maërl habitats: predictive modelling to identify their spatial distributions across the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Rep. 4, 5073. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05073.*
habitats, where gradients due to hydrodynamic forcing and light variation are much stronger. This idea of reduced abiotic variation with depth leads to the hypothesis that β diversity should also decrease from shallower to deeper habitats because of the reduced importance of habitat filtering, a key mechanism maintaining β diversity. Unfortunately, this hypothesis has not been tested yet, but the outcome would be particularly interesting, in whatever direction. Support for the hypothesis would indicate that habitat filtering is reduced in low subtidal environments and, possibly, that connec tivity is an important assembling process. Rejection of the hypothesis would also be appealing, suggesting that dispersal limitation and species interactions become stronger with increasing depth to compensate for the weakening of habitat filtering.

Harsh abiotic conditions in shallow waters, in terms of intense light inten sity, temperature and water movement, especially in the intertidal, can favour assemblages that tolerate such extreme situations, so forming low diversity communities where individual species are prominent. As depth increases, especially on hard substrates, clonal species become dominant and biotic inter actions, especially competition for space, become the main drivers of the com position of assemblages where clonal species are dominant (Jackson, 1977).

Understanding the relative contribution of these processes will be increasingly important, since abiotic variation is expected to increase with climate change, as we have already seen with recent heat waves reaching low subtidal environments (Garrabou et al., 2009). These extreme events can alter the mechanisms that maintain biodiversity on bioconstructions, and β diversity seems particularly suited to detect these changes.

4. MEASURES

4.1 Major Threats to Mediterranean Bioconstructions

The intensive human exploitation of the Mediterranean Sea has many pro found negative effects on marine biota. Industrial, urban and agricultural pollution, coastal development, climate change, increases in sedimentation, trawling, anchoring and introduction of alien species represent the main threats for Mediterranean marine benthic communities (Ballesteros, 2006; Coll et al., 2010; Piazzi et al., 2012). Although with variable spatial and tem poral extent, and variable intensity, almost all coastal biodiversity of the Mediterranean is affected by these threats (UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, 2003). Below is a synthesis of the main threats affecting bioconstructions.

4.1.1 Pollution

Chemicals introduced in the marine environment from land based (agricul tural runoff, industrial and urban waste) and sea based (oil spills, shipping) sources of pollution could result in severe impacts on bioconstructions by impeding growth and reproduction of building organisms, and causing diseases or mortality in sensitive species. Several studies have correlated gra dients of increasing pollution to increasing impacts on bioconstructions, in particular for those in the intertidal or superficial waters, such as *L. byssoides* and vermetid reefs, which are primarily exposed to coastal sources of pollu tion. Such species are highly sensitive to chemical pollution (Blanfuné et al., 2016; Verlaque, 2010), and large concretions are present only in condition of high environmental quality (Ballesteros et al., 2007; Chemello, 2009; Di Franco et al., 2011).

Bioconstructors inhabiting the shallow subtidal may be strongly affected as well. For instance, the presence of coastal industries has been associated with an increased spatial heterogeneity and decreased diversity of cor alligenous assemblages (Bevilacqua et al., 2012, 2018). The decline of C. caespitosa reefs has been observed in relation to industrial discharge (El Kateb et al., 2016), and chemicals are likely to have detrimental effects also on A. calycularis as on other corals (Wear and Thurber, 2015). Toxic substances may induce metabolic changes, decrease rates of growth and reproduction or reduce viability of corals (Pastorok and Bilyard, 1985). Domestic detergents may cause high coral mortality and reduced tissue growth (Shafir et al., 2014), whereas inorganic pollutants have harmful effects on fertilization and embryo development (Humphrey et al., 2008) and on early life history stages of coral species (Humanes et al., 2017). Prod ucts such as sunscreen UV filters containing benzophenone 2 induce defor mity in coral planulae (Downs et al., 2014) and, by promoting viral infection, potentially play an important role in coral bleaching (Danovaro et al., 2008). Pharmaceuticals have negative ecological consequences on aquatic invertebrates even at very low concentration (Brodin et al., 2014) by affecting spawning, larval release, locomotion and fecundity (Fong and Ford, 2014).

Plastic litter is increasingly recognized as a potential threat to bio constructions, even for deep water corals (Fig. 10D). In a recent study, Savini et al. (2014) documented plastic bags and debris to be the most repre sented type of marine litter in CWC banks in the northern Ionian Sea. In this case, the major effects are due to the entanglement of debris on colonies, causing impediments for normal polyp activities (e.g. feeding). Moreover,



Fig. 10 Threats to bioconstructions: (A) the negative impact of gosth nets and (B) anchoring on the coralligenous habitat. (C) The nonindigenous species *C. cylindracea* overgrows on colonies of *A. calycularis*. (D) Plastic litter on *M. oculata* coral frame. *Panel (A): Photo: Paolo Fossati. Panel (B): Photo: University of Genova. Panel (C): Photo: Fabio Badalamenti. Panel (D): Photo: University of Cagliari/ISPRA.*

degradation of plastic debris generates huge amounts of microplastic fragments that can be ingested by polyps (Hall et al., 2015) with detrimental conse quences for the colonies. Marine debris of anthropogenic origin were also documented in the coralligenous outcrops using ROVs. Their occurrence was massive and widespread (Angiolillo et al., 2015; Cau et al., 2015a, 2017a). Gorgonians were the most commonly affected organisms, followed by red coral, antipatharians, sponges and other invertebrates. The lowest abun dance of marine debris was recorded in Sardinia, representing a minor potential source of litter in comparison to more populated regions, such as Campania and Sicily (Angiolillo et al., 2015).

4.1.2 Organic Enrichment

Eutrophication (i.e. excessive nutrient load), mostly related to wastewater discharge, is a widespread problem in coastal waters (Howarth et al., 2000), enhancing algal blooms followed by algal death, decomposition and oxygen depletion leading to mass mortalities (Stachowitsch et al., 2007). Generally, eutrophication can impact ecosystems directly, causing

changes in species composition, as addition of limiting nutrients can cause shifts in competitive hierarchies (Emery et al., 2001) and promote alien species invasions (Williams and Smith, 2007). Sessile habitat forming species characterizing bioconcretions are the most heavily impacted by these threats (Altieri and Witman, 2006). Wastewaters profoundly affect the structure of coralligenous communities by inhibiting coralline algae growth, increasing bioerosion rates, decreasing species richness and densities of the largest individuals of the epifauna, eliminating some taxonomic groups and increasing the abundance of highly tolerant species (Ballesteros, 2006; Cormaci et al., 1985; Hong, 1980, 1982).

Water eutrophication particularly affects *Sabellaria* reefs. Despite *Sabellaria*'s tolerance to poor water quality, increasing inputs of nutrients along the shore are responsible for the indirect impact to the reef, causing massive green algae blooms, which significantly lower the rate of *Sabellaria* larval recruitment (Dubois et al., 2006). Evidence for such damage has been recorded along the Sicily coasts (F. Badalamenti, personal communication).

Although there are a general lack of studies on the impact of aquaculture facilities situated over or near to bioconcretions such as coralligenous outcrops or maërl beds, their effects should match those produced by wastewater dumping. For instance, in the Adriatic Sea, Kružić and Požar Domac (2007) documented the impact of tuna farming on the banks of *C. caespitosa*.

4.1.3 Climate Change

Climate change is the threat to marine ecosystems that is causing most concern worldwide. Regarding bioconstructions, the rise of both sea level and water temperature, ocean acidification and the increasing intensity and frequency of extreme weather events may act from local to large scale, altering coastal and offshore environments, with severe consequences to both shallow and deep sea habitats (Hoegh Guldberg et al., 2014; Pörtner et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2014).

In the long term, the rise of sea level will cause profound changes of midlittoral habitats, affecting bioconstructions in superficial waters, such as those of *L. byssoides* that thrive only in the midlittoral zone. This species cannot survive conditions of constant submersion, as it is rapidly covered and overgrown by sublittoral algae (mainly soft red algae and articulated coral lines). The formation of large rims of *L. byssoides* is therefore possible only if the sea level remains stable (or rises very slowly) over long periods (Faivre et al., 2013). Recent observations in other areas of the central Mediterranean

(Verlaque, 2010) suggest that, if the sea level rise is sufficiently gradual, this species can move upwards on the shore and grows in height. If the rate of sea level rise is too fast, however, the rims will not be able to cope with it and the living alga will disappear and the growth of these structures will no longer be possible.

More proximate effects of climatic changes have resulted in intensifying atmospheric events, sea water warming and summer hot waves (Rivetti et al., 2014). The increasing power of extreme sea storms expected under the climate change scenario in the Mediterranean Sea will likely have a deep physical impact on L. byssoides and Sabellaria reefs, given their prevalent shal low distribution (Firth et al., 2015; Nissen et al., 2014), but also on deeper bioconstructions such as coralligenous outcrops (Cocito et al., 1998; Teixido ' et al., 2013). Multiple climate driven effects, such as thermal anom alies and floods, can affect coralligenous outcrops (Bavestrello et al., 1994; Cerrano et al., 2000), often interacting with local human impacts in altering the composition and structure of coralligenous communities (Roghi et al., 2010). Seawater warming and summer hot waves may induce mass mortality episodes in gorgonians and other coralligenous organisms (Cerrano et al., 2000), causing depth shifts of the communities (Gatti et al., 2017; Ponti et al., 2014, 2018). These phenomena have caused repeated episodes of bleaching and mortality in C. caespitosa reefs colonies in recent years (Jiménez et al., 2016; Kersting et al., 2013; Kružić et al., 2012, 2014; Rodolfo Metalpa et al., 2000, 2005). Recovery of C. caespitosa from impacts of various kinds may be relatively rapid (Casado et al., 2015; Kersting et al., 2014b), but this species is believed to be living close to its thermal limit during the summer period, so that a long term increase of sea water tem perature could be lethal for this coral (Rodolfo Metalpa et al., 2006a,b). Deep mass mortalities have been recently reported for red coral popula tions thriving on deep coralligenous concretions of the Gulf of Salerno at a depth range between 80 and 100 m and attributed possibly to local down welling currents inducing an unusual drop of the thermocline, sudden warm water emissions or local landslides generating turbidity currents (Bavestrello et al., 2014).

Climate change may have a positive effect on the thermophilic steno therm coral *A. calycularis*, whose distribution could extend northwards due to warming of the superficial waters (Bianchi, 2007). However, this spe cies seems particularly sensitive to high summer temperatures, suggesting that different climatic processes could combine in modifying the distribution of bioconstructors (Prada et al., 2017). The interplay between sea water warming and ocean acidification is particularly concerning. For instance, sensitivity to high summer temperatures may increase tissue mortality in *A. calycularis*, which in turn makes the corals more susceptible to ocean acidification affecting net calcification.

Today's surface ocean is saturated with respect to calcium carbonate, but increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations are reducing ocean pH and carbonate ion concentrations, thus reducing the level of cal cium carbonate saturation (Gattuso et al., 2015). If these trends will continue, key marine bioconstructors, such as corals, shellfish and calcified algae, will be threatened. Direct physiological effects of decreased bioconstructors typically include changes рH in survival. on calcification. growth, development, reproduction and abundance (Kroeker et al., 2013). A recent work revealed that pH reduction impairs the recruitment success of the reef building gastro pod D. cristatum (as D. petraeum), likely causing shell dissolution of the recruits and altering their shell mineralogy (Milazzo et al., 2014).

The coralline algae are vulnerable to ocean acidification (Fabricius et al., 2015; McCoy and Kamenos, 2015) due to their high Mg calcite skeletons that are more soluble than other forms of calcium carbonate (Andersson et al., 2008); hence, ocean acidification will impact the coralline algae (Cornwall et al., 2017). Martin and Gattuso (2009) concluded that, on the long term, a combination of increased pCO_2 and elevated temperatures may lead to dissolution exceeding calcification in Lithophyllum cabiochiae (Boudouresque & Verlaque) Athanasiadis, one of the main bioconstructor coralline algae in the coralligenous. These authors, however, reported that the intensity of this effect is seasonally variable. Differences in sensitivity to acidification can also be expected in relation to habitat and depth; for instance, slow flow habitats (such as deep coralligenous habitats) might become refugia from ocean acidification for calcifying organisms (Hurd, 2015). However, the areas of dense water formation are preferential sites for atmospheric carbon dioxide absorption and through them the ocean acidification process can quickly propagate into the deep layers. In the Gulf of Lions and in the Adriatic Sea, the two most active deep convection area of the Mediterranean Sea (Boero, 2015), the ocean acidification of the deep layer can be particularly strong (Ingrosso et al., 2017b; Touratier et al., 2016) and this may negatively affect CWCs in the near future (Gori et al., 2016).

Scaling up the direct effects of ocean acidification from single species to ecosystem level parameters, such as habitat complexity or density of bio constructions, is difficult (Sunday et al., 2017). However, an overall reduction of structural complexity has been detected in the biogenic habitat that rely on calcification for their structure (Kroeker et al., 2013), which in turn may negatively affect the associated biodiversity. Since most bioconstructions are the result of calcification processes, ocean acidification has the potential to change seascapes dramatically.

4.1.4 Fisheries

Fishing activities have several direct and indirect effects on bioconstructions, particularly in subtidal habitats, affecting single species (Terrón Sigler, 2016; Terrón Sigler et al., 2016b) or whole bioconstructions (Cerrano et al., 2001). A major mechanism of distrurbance consists of direct mechanical damage caused by fishing gears (Piazzi et al., 2012), whereas indirect effects involve increase in sediment load due the physical disturbance on the sea bottom and sediment resuspension, or damage from ghost nets (Fig. 10A). Along North European coasts, physical damage has been reported to seriously impact *Sabellaria* reefs, caused mainly by trawling for shrimps and dredging for oysters and mussels (Dubois et al., 2002, 2006; Riesen and Riese, 1982).

Both artisanal and recreational fisheries affect coralligenous bio constructions, damaging their three dimensional structure (e.g. both remov ing pieces of the biogenic structure and the living tissue of the arborescent organisms, such as gorgonians) as suggested by the widespread occurrence of lost fishing lines and ghost nets in these environments (Bavestrello et al., 1997; Cau et al., 2015a, 2017a; Di Camillo et al., 2018). Artisanal and recre ational fishing (e.g. long lines) are also the main fishing practices affecting continental coralligenous animal forests and CWC bioconstructions, as these fisheries target commercial species gravitating within or around these ecosys tems (Angiolillo et al., 2015; Bo et al., 2014, 2015; D'Onghia et al., 2012; Gori et al., 2017). Bottom trawling, in contrast, only marginally affects these bioconstructions, due to the protection offered by hard substrates and coral mounds (Enrichetti et al., 2018; Mastrototaro et al., 2013), which can seri ously damage the fishing gear, thereby making such areas less accessible to trawl fishing activities and providing a natural refuge for the associated fauna (D'Onghia et al., 2011). Under particular conditions, however, trawling can cause severe damage, as in the northern Adriatic, where mesophotic biogenic habitats, due to their flat shape, shallow depth, low relief and high friability, are threatened by this fishing activity, especially when carried out by methods such as Rapido gear (Pranovi et al., 2000).

4.1.5 Coastal Development

The functioning of coastal marine habitats depends also on a dynamic bal ance between sediment input and export; human activities influence these

systems by either increasing or decreasing sediment delivery. Most anthro pogenic alterations of the shoreline (e.g. urbanization, construction of ports and coastal defences) could have some impact on bioconcretions through the significant alterations of sedimentary regimes. The increase in sedimentation rates is a major problem in coastal waters worldwide. Sedi mentation disproportionally impacts nearshore ecosystems such as coastal estuaries, where increasing sediment loads lead to both burial of benthic communities and increasing water turbidity, reducing light penetration and leading to numerous associated negative effects (Thrush et al., 2004). Increasing sedimentation is a major problem for rocky reefs (Airoldi, 2003), coral reefs (Rogers, 1990), sea grass systems (Orth et al., 2006) and soft sediment communities (Thrush et al., 2004). Coralligenous com munities and Sabellaria reefs are also very vulnerable to changes in hydrolog ical and sedimentary regimes resulting from coastal engineering works (Balata et al., 2007; Gatti et al., 2012, 2015a; Roghi et al., 2010; Vorberg, 2000). Coastal urbanization and the artificial sheltering of inter tidal communities by the construction of jetties and marinas are a great impact on vermetid reefs (Di Franco et al., 2011). Human induced changes to land cover, including urbanization, loss of forests and intensification of agricultural practices in vulnerable areas (e.g. mountainous coastal regions), may dramatically increase soil erosion and sediment deliveries to coastal waters at regional levels, increasing turbidity and sedimentation and there fore threatening intertidal and subtidal bioconstructions (Mateos Molina et al., 2015).

4.1.6 Direct Physical Disturbance

Several activities, mostly related to human visitation and recreation, can lead to impacts on bioconstructions through direct physical disturbance of the building species (e.g. Milazzo et al., 2002). For instance, boat anchoring (Fig. 10B) has a high destructive potential in coralligenous formations (Ballesteros, 2006). Generally, bioconstructors characterizing this habitat are very fragile and can be easily detached or broken by anchors and chains, and they show a low recovery potential. Thus, in areas subjected to intense anchoring, it is unlikely that this community will fully recover from damage. Sometimes, due to lack of management, boat anchoring is a huge problem even within protected areas. This kind of impact often overlaps with recreational SCUBA diving (Chimienti et al., 2017). Due to their spectac ular appearance, coralligenous formations are the most popular habitat for recreational diving in the Mediterranean Sea. Uncontrolled or too many visits by divers in coralligenous communities produce important effects over certain large or fragile suspension feeders that inhabit coralligenous assem blages (Ballesteros, 2006; Casoli et al., 2016; Coma et al., 2004; Garrabou et al., 1998; Guarnieri et al., 2012; Linares et al., 2005; Sala et al., 1996). The proportion of damage varies significantly with the frequency of SCUBA diving and sometimes results in damage of bioconstructors like red algae, bryozoan and coral colonies. Mechanical impacts by divers and snorkelers cause serious damages to *A. calycularis* colonies (Di Franco et al., 2009; Milazzo et al., 2002). In areas where its dense reefs attract tourists, damages to colonies were frequently caused by accidental contacts with nonexpert divers (Terrón Sigler et al., 2016a).

Also for *Sabellaria* reefs, the main anthropogenic impacts related to the physical disturbance are linked to frequency of human visitation. Along Italian coasts, one of the main threats to these biogenic reefs is linked to trampling (Plicanti et al., 2016). Often, the impact is further exacerbated by the direct removal of *Sabellaria* worms, which are used as bait for recre ational fisheries. The vermetid reef building species *D. cristatum* is similarly sensitive to trampling, which often causes the death of individuals and the detachment of settled larvae. Thus, given their very low dispersal ability (Calvo et al., 1998), they are unlikely to recover from local depletion and habitat degradation (Galil, 2013). Moreover, the increase of water move ments linked to maritime traffic also impacts on vermetid reefs (Graziano et al., 2007).

4.1.7 Biological Threats

The rates of invasion of nonindigenous species (NIS) have increased in the last 2 centuries, and particularly in the last 50 years (Ruiz et al., 2000), as a consequence of globalization and industrialization. Coastal marine habitats are particularly exposed to the impact related to this threat (Williams and Grosholz, 2008) due to the concentration of activities that promote invasion (e.g. shipping, aquaculture, fisheries and aquarium trade). Invasive species can displace native species and alter food web dynamics, changing habitat structure by altering species diversity (Ruiz et al., 1999). Knowledge on the effects of NIS on Mediterranean coralligenous communities is scant. To date, three algal species are threatening these communities: *Womersleyella setacea* (Hollenberg) R.E. Norris, *Caulerpa cylindracea* Sonder and *Caulerpa taxifolia* (M. Vahl) C. Agardh. They colonize only relatively shallow water coralligenous reefs (to 60 m) (Ballesteros, 2006), where they cover the basal layer of encrusting corallines and increase sedimentation rates, impairing

both coralligenous growth and survival. The invasion of the red alga *W. setacea*, currently distributed along most of the Mediterranean basin (Athanasiadis, 1997), leads to lower species richness than that is observed at noncolonized sites (Piazzi et al., 2012). Similar effects have been docu mented for the other two algae (Cebrian et al., 2012; Gatti et al., 2015b). In some areas, especially *C. cylindracea* has totally invaded the coralligenous community, raising concerns for the conservation of this habitat (Meinesz and Hesse, 1991; Piazzi et al., 2005). However, healthy gorgonian forests made by *P. clavata* seem able to reduce the invasiveness of *C. cylindracea* in coralligenous habitats (Ponti et al., 2018).

At shallow depth, *C. cylindracea* may overgrow the anthozoan *C. caespitosa* (Gatti et al., 2015b; Kersting et al., 2014a; Kružić et al., 2008). In the National Park Mljet in Veliko Jezero (between 8 and 14m depth) approximately 150m of coastline characterized by coral bank of *C. caespitosa* was partially affected by this invasive alga (Kružić et al., 2008). Similarly, *C. cylindracea* has occasionally been observed to overgrow colonies of *A. calycularis* in Sicily (Fig. 10C).

Marine diseases, which often combine with climate change, represent another biological threat driven by human activities. Globally, examples of recent disease outbreaks with major impacts in marine ecosystems include the Caribbean urchin die off (Hughes, 1994), various coral diseases (e.g. Aronson and Precht, 2001), lobster declines in the north Atlantic (Glenn and Pugh, 2006) and marine mammal diseases (Kim et al., 2005). It is presumed, even if not yet assessed, that diseases could represent a threat for bioconstructions in general. Similar to the spread of NIS, disease out breaks can be driven by human activities such as aquaculture with its artifi cially dense populations, and shipping and ballast water transport, facilitating the transport of disease vectors. Various synergistic stressors can weaken populations' disease resistance (Harvell et al., 2004), and other environmental changes can enhance disease effects (e.g. Bruno et al., 2007). Marine diseases are probably increasing in the ocean due to human activities (Harvell et al., 1999), but documenting the human influence on disease outbreaks is difficult due to lack of historical baselines.

Mucilages are another biological threat: algal aggregates and exudates can cause severe damage to erect suspension feeders (mainly gorgonians) espe cially on coralligenous formations (Schiaparelli et al., 2007). These blooms are still not well understood, but they are apparently caused by eutrophica tion. For instance, the benthic assemblages of the northern Adriatic biogenic reefs were strongly affected by recurring anoxic crises and accumulation of mucilaginous aggregates (Precali et al., 2005).

4.2 Current Conservation Measures

Although not legally binding, the Barcelona Convention's Action plan adopted in 2008 for the conservation of coralligenous outcrops and other calcareous bioconcretions in the Mediterranean Sea prescribes that "coralligenous/maërl assemblages should be granted legal protection at the same level as P. oceanica meadows" (UNEP MAP RAC/ SPA, 2008, 2017). Coralligenous outcrops also appear in the EU Habitats Directive (under hab itat type 1170 "Reefs"), and in the Bern Convention. Two maërl forming Mediterranean species, Lithothamnion corallioides (P. Crouan & H. Crouan) P. Crouan & H. Crouan and Phymatolithon calcareum (Pallas) W.H. Adey & D.L. McKibbin ex Woelkering & L.M. Irvine, are included in Annex V of the Habitats Directive. Finally, under European law, destructive fishing is prohibited over Mediterranean coralligenous and maërl bottoms. The sub stantial lack of relevant geospatial data on these habitats, however, significantly hinders the effective implementation of these policies.

Bioconstructions are a potential proxy for monitoring the marine environ mental quality according to the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) 2008/56/EC (European Community, 2008), which requires the maintenance and restoration of marine biodiversity and ecosystem function ing. Bioconstructions host species of Community interest, such as the red coral C. rubrum, listed in Annex V of the EU Habitats Directive and other species, including commercial sponges, such as Spongia officinalis Linnaeus, 1759 and Spongia lamella (Schulze, 1879), gorgonians P. clavata, the gold coral Savalia savaglia (Bertoloni, 1819) and, deeper, the black corals A. subpinnata, A. dichotoma, P. larix and Leiopathes glaberrima (Esper, 1788). Black corals have been included in Annex II (List of Endangered or Threatened Species) of the Barcelona Convention; their trade is regulated by CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) and have been listed as "least concern" in accordance with the IUCN Italian Commit tee, with the exception of L. glaberrima, commonly associated to deep white coral reefs, listed as "endangered" with special reference to its exceptional millennial longevity, hence high vulnerability (Bo et al., 2015).

A total of 211 sessile megabenthic species have been recorded on the coralligenous reefs of Liguria, sponges being the richest group. Twelve bio logical communities were identified: eight of them correspond to habitats described in the classification of the European Nature Information System (EUNIS) (Tunesi et al., 2006): (1) association with *C. zosteroides* (EUNIS equivalent: A4.261); (2) association with *Mesophyllum lichenoides* (J. Ellis) Me. Lemoine (A4.266); (3) facies with *E. cavolini* (A4.269); (4) facies with

E. singularis (A4.26A); (5) facies with *P. clavata* (A4.26B); (6) facies with P. *axinellae* (A4.26C); (7) facies with *L. sarmentosa* (A4.322); and (8) facies with *C. rubrum* (A4.713). The remaining four have no EUNIS equivalent and would require further investigation: (1) facies with *Eunicella verrucosa* (Pallas, 1766); (2) facies with *L. pruvoti*; (3) facies with massive/erect sponges; and (4) facies with *P. fascialis*. The distribution of these 12 habitats correlates with light intensity, geomorphology, sediment load and hydrodynamics (Cocito et al., 1997). The high spatial, morphological and biological hetero geneity of the coralligenous assemblages in Liguria is worth being protected. In total, the Ligurian coralligenous assemblages cover a surface area of 130.9ha, but only 48.3ha (37%) is within regional or national MPAs (Cánovas Molina et al., 2016).

C. *caespitosa* banks were abundant during the Pliocene (Peirano et al., 2009), but are presently rare and localized (Kersting and Linares, 2012; Kružić and Benković, 2008). Their decline led to the inclusion of *C. caespitosa* in the IUCN Red List as an "endangered" species (Casado Amezu 'a et al., 2015). Following the Natura 2000 Interpretation Manual (European Commission, 2013), *A. calycularis* bioconstructions are listed as biogenic reefs; they are in the list of strictly protected species of the Bern Convention (Annex II), in the list of Endangered or Threatened species as being of "least concern" in accordance with the IUCN Italian Committee.

Dendropoma cristatum (= D. petraeum) is a threatened species and it is included in the Annex II of the Bern Convention and in Annex II of Barcelona Convention. Moreover, it is included in the EU Habitat Directive and in the Spanish Catalogue of Threatened Species (Templado et al., 2004). In Italy, the presence of this species led to the national desig nation of MPAs along Sicilian coasts (MPA "Egadi Islands" and MPA "Capo Gallo—Isola delle Femmine") and Campanian coasts (MPA "Santa Maria di Castellabate"). However, only a part of the vermetid reefs (53.3% in fre quency and 15.6% in length) are really protected on Northwestern Sicilian coasts (Chemello, 2009; Chemello et al., 2014), and no vermetid reefs are protected along the Ionian coasts and the Salento Peninsula.

Regarding Sabellaria reefs no protection measures are provided for the great majority of them, the only protected reef being placed at the Torre del Cerrano MPA along the Central Adriatic coast. The deep water coral *L. pertusa* and *M. oculata* are included in the CITES list (Appendix II) and, according to Natura 2000 Interpretation Manual of the European Commission (2013), in the category "Reefs" (habitat type 1170) of the

EU Habitat Directive. However, the available information regarding the current status of these deep water communities at Mediterranean scale indicates a 40%–50% decline over the last 50–60 years, mostly due to bottom trawling (Orejas et al., 2009). As a result, more incisive protection measures and good management strategies are urgently needed (Otero et al., 2017).

Finally, *L. byssoides*, coralligenous, *C. caespitosa* banks, vermetid, sabellariid and sepulid reefs are also included in the European Red List of Habitats (Gubbay et al., 2016).

5. GUIDELINES AND RECOMMENDATIONS: A HOLISTIC APPROACH TO SUPPORT MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION STRATEGIES

The two main marine protection tactics enforced in Italy comprise nationally designated MPAs and Sites of Community Importance (SCIs) as part of the Natura 2000 network. On the one hand, the Ministry of the Environment and Protection of Land and Sea designates Italian MPAs, as the marine counterpart of Italian National Parks. Typically, they all have a management plan, a president, a director, a staff and a budget. On the other hand, Italian Regions, based on the EU Habitats Directive, designate the SCIs that, in most cases, have neither a management plan and budget nor a staff of any kind. The protection of the marine environment is further enforced through an entangled multitude of initiatives, usually termed as OECMs (Other Effective Area based Conservation Measures) (IUCN WCPA, 2018). Currently, the harmonization of protection tactics into a single strategy involves the extension of MPAs so as to comprise most SCIs. This will allow for a consistent management. The enforcement of protec tion, indeed, distinguishes "real" MPAs, where protection is enforced, from "paper parks" (Guidetti et al., 2008), where measures are simply on paper. The Italian situation is rapidly changing and it is not useful now to provide precise data that will soon be outdated. In general, many Italian MPAs have been designated where seascapes are particularly attractive for scuba divers and "beauty" has been the main reason for their proposal (Boero, 2017b). Since bioconstructions, and especially coralligenous ones, are particularly spectacular, many MPAs include bioconstructions. Italian Regions, instead, focused the designation of SCIs almost only on Posidonia meadows, but their attention is now turning towards bioconstructions as part of the "reef" category of the EU Habitats Directive (Fraschetti et al., 2009).

These measures, however, protect the sites where important habitats, usu ally benthic, are located, focusing just on the patterns of biodiversity distribution. The EU MSFD, with the definition of Good Environmental Status, calls for a more holistic approach that considers not only patterns of biodiversity distribution but also the ecosystem processes that allow for their presence and well being. The instruments to achieve this goal are many (e.g. Maritime Spatial Planning, Integrated Coastal Zone Management, the Ecosystem Approach, the Networks of MPAs, identification of multi parametric indexes evaluating biodiversity and seafloor integrity) and are often developed with no coordination, thus leading to a vision that is still fragmented.

Boero et al. (2016) provide guidelines to design networks of MPAs in the Mediterranean and the Black Seas, proposing the consideration of ecological space as a suite of Cells of Ecosystem Functioning as being com pact units of management and conservation, where biodiversity patterns and ecosystem processes are spatially linked by high levels of connectivity. Bioconstructions, in this vision, are part of larger ecosystems and must be man aged as such. A precondition for effective management, however, requires that biodiversity patterns are known, along with accurate habitat mapping. Then, each habitat must be managed and protected via two approaches: a proximate one, aiming at removing direct human impacts (i.e. MPAs), and an ultimate one embracing ecosystem processes that have an influence on the managed systems through connectivity (Networks of MPAs).

Coralligenous formations of any kind are considered as the major exam ple of the "reefs" category of the EU Habitats Directive and, as such, should become SCIs, if they are not already included in nationally designated MPAs. The long time required for their building (millennia) does not give hope for their quick recovery if they are destroyed; hence any form of impact on them should be avoided, with effective regulations of human activities of any kind. The northern Adriatic mesophotic biogenic habitats, because of their extent, biodiversity and implications for fisheries and carbon regulation, have been the status of "Zona di Tutela Biologica" (ZTB) (Zone of Biological Protection, indeed a regulated no take zone) with a Decree of the Italian Ministry of Agricultural, Food and Forestry Policies (G.U. n. 193 of 19 8 2002). The increasing awareness of the vulnerability of these habitats has led to some efforts to protect these habitats with the institution of SCIs, part of the Natura 2000 network (SCI IT3250047; IT3250048; IT3330009). However, as these biogenic habitats occur as a patchy network of biodiversity hot spots, conservation efforts should not be addressed to pro tect single reefs, but should preserve a system of connected sink-source sites.

For the near future, effective protection must be based on the complete mapping of these habitats, including their geomorphology (area, shape, height), and on detailed information on their species composition. A further task will require understanding of the ecosystem processes that allow for their persistence.

Reefs of A. calycularis occur along Mediterranean rocky shores, particu larly in the western and central areas of the basin. The beauty of these sites often attracts tourists but, especially at shallow sites, inexperienced SCUBA divers can cause mechanical damage to the reefs. These shallow sites are gen erally not larger than a few hundred square metres, or even less, but they are important sources of sexual propagules (Musco et al., 2016). Besides MPAs, where management should prevent damage, the creation of microprotected areas with some specific restrictions could be the best practice to achieve the conservation of this natural Mediterranean monument, contributing to increase awareness by people through specific communication projects. Some small coves and cliffs in the Gulf of Castellammare in Sicily, and also many sites in the Gulf of Naples, appear to be good candidates to test and implement focused protection schemes. The larval biology of A. calycularis is still poorly known: Pellón and Badalamenti (2016) showed that planulae are released through the tentacles, but their ecology is far from being known. Mechanically damaged colonies of A. calycularis might possibly be restored with transplantation techniques. Musco et al. (2017), in fact, demonstrated that fragments of dislodged colonies can be reimplanted.

More accurate information on the vermetid reef building species biology and population connectivity is essential to optimize vermetid reef protection (Milazzo et al., 2017). Pending the availability of this information, these bio constructions should be actively protected, based on the precautionary prin ciple, and should become SCIs. It is very important not only to monitor the state of the endangered species *Dendropoma* spp. but also to enhance the knowledge of the highly diverse associated communities for a better under standing of this peculiar ecosystem. Its actual protection should be guaranteed by the establishment and proper management of MPAs or SCIs, according to Natura 2000 procedures of the European Union. An additional major prob lem is represented by the ongoing and projected levels of ocean acidification affecting the ecophysiological performance of this and many other reef building organisms, likely leading to a further reduction of the species abun dance and diversity they support (Doney et al., 2009; Donnarumma et al., 2014; Milazzo et al., 2014; Sunday et al., 2017).

Sabellaria bioconstructions, due to their key functional role as habitat formers for large biodiversity and to their importance for coastal protection

from erosion, require effective protection, for instance using SCIs. Protec tive measures must prevent gleaning, trampling and organic pollution, since *Sabellaria* reefs are sensitive to these stressors. More information is required about the distribution of these reefs, their characteristics, spatial distribution and temporal short term variability. Long term persistence and resilience must also be evaluated, so as to distinguish temporary from persistent reefs. The life cycle of *S. alveolata* and the occurrence of larvae in the plankton should also be studied, so as to understand recruitment and larval dispersal, leading to the evaluation of connectivity among reefs.

The distribution of CWCs in the Mediterranean Sea is increasingly becoming better known with the advancement of oceanographic technolo gies. The unique deep sea bioconstructions of CWCs are true hot spots of biodiversity worthy of proper governance and protection, and they represent a Vulnerable Marine Ecosystem (Fabri et al., 2014). CWCs provinces have been recognized as essential fish habitat for several species of commercial or conservation interest (D'Onghia et al., 2010, 2012). For this reason, the Gen eral Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM) created the legal category of "Deep sea Fisheries Restricted Area" where the use of towed gears and dredges is forbidden, as has happened in Santa Maria di Leuca coral province (Mastrototaro et al., 2010). The institution of deep sea ecosystems protection strategies needs to be implemented further, considering new findings of a wide range of vulnerable and valuable deep sea habitats.

Recent decades have represented an extraordinary turning point for the investigation of the deep ecosystems in the Mediterranean Sea. ROVs have contributed to giving a visual identity to the habitats and assemblages that were partially known from the first zonation efforts (Pérès and Picard, 1964). Despite the great amount of work carried out, however, much is still to be done. Future perspectives in the study of CWC distribution concern the identification and exploration of other possible coral sites along the main path of the LIW (Chimienti et al., 2018b). These scleractinians occur in areas where the interaction between currents and topography can generate high speed flow (Orejas et al., 2009). New investigations along precipitous topographies (e.g. canyons, ridges and seamounts) will greatly enhance our knowledge of coral sites and provinces. This would help to refine habitat models that predict the location of new coral bioconstructions based on hab itat topography and hydrodynamic conditions. Apart from new areas, it will be crucial to explore the margins of the presently known sites and provinces, possibly deeper than 1000 m depth. Some of these sites are likely to represent parts of a discontinuous deep sea belt of CWC bioconstructions. Explor ative efforts could lead to the discovery of other large white coral belts, as

has been the case for the Apulian margin, where an almost continuous belt of patchy white coral bioconstructions connects the south western Adriatic populations with those inhabiting the Ionian margin (Angeletti et al., 2014; D'Onghia et al., 2015).

Biostalactites, deriving from a new and presumably endemic species with a particularly restricted geographic range (Cape of Otranto), require urgent protection interventions following the precautionary principle: we cannot expect to know more about these structures before protection is enforced!

Altogether, all bioconstructions can be assigned to the "reefs" category of the EU Habitats Directive and, as such, be designated as SCIs. As with the better known *P. oceanica* meadows (Fig. 1), bioconstructions are present in most Italian waters (Fig. 11), even if there are still some gaps in their knowl edge, especially for the coast of Calabria, both on the Tyrrhenian and on the



Fig. 11 Distribution pattern of marine bioconstructions along the Italian coast. Boundaries of point and polygon features of the data layers have artificially been enhanced for illustrative purposes, so they do not reflect the real habitat extent.

Ionian Seas. The few explorations of this long stretch of coast have revealed very rich communities (e.g. Bo et al., 2011, 2012a,b). The south Adriatic coast of Italy is very rich in bioconstructions and *Posidonia*, whereas these are almost absent in the Central Adriatic, characterized by long stretches of sandy coasts and bottoms where mainly *Sabellaria* reefs are present.

Fraschetti et al. (2008) remarked that bioconstructions are original and vulnerable habitats that deserve absolute priority in conservation measures. Bioconstructors, in fact, replace the original geological habitat and become themselves a habitat that, even if they die, remains in place for some time, but loses its most peculiar feature: life. Both the European and the Italian authorities recognize this importance, since both nationally designated MPAs and SCIs designated in Italian waters almost invariably comprise either bioconstructions or *Posidonia* meadows or both.

The importance of some bioconstructions, especially coralligenous ones, is more elusive than that of both tropical and cold water coral formations, where the corals are both the habitat and its benthic component. If corals die, the perception of life disappears. Coralligenous formations, on the con trary, are the habitat for a wealth of spectacular living sponges, cnidarians, bryozoans and ascidians that are not the primary "makers" of the substrate, this role being played by coralline algae and bacterial mats. The "beauty" of coral formations is seen in the corals, whereas the "beauty" of coralligenous formations is seen in what covers the bioconstruction.

The distribution patterns of Italian coastal bioconstructions are quite well known, but many gaps are still to be filled for the deep sea and for some stretches of coast. The state of these formations must be continuously mon itored so as to assess their condition and, in case of deterioration, to develop specifically tailored management options, even though they will be probably insufficient if a full understanding of the processes that allow for their persistence is not available. The knowledge of patterns, then, should be upgraded with an improving knowledge of processes, as shown here with connectivity models as a preliminary example.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The basic principle of guidelines to preserve bioconstructions, then, is very simple: impacts affecting them must be identified and removed. This can be straightforward for direct impacts, but global impacts such as climate warming are more difficult to manage. Extensive mass mortalities of impor tant species that grow on coralligenous formations, such as sponges and sea fans, occurred during periods of deepening of the mixed layer (Rivetti et al., 2014), but the impact on the bioconstructing algae is still poorly known. The avoidance of direct stress on biogenic structures as a result of protection policies leads to healthier habitats that, hopefully, will better respond to global stressors such as warming and acidification.

In the case of impacts that alter the conditions of a given habitat, Jones et al. (2018) suggest two restoration options: passive restoration, i.e., the reestab lishment of natural conditions with no further intervention, and removal of impacts; and active restoration that might be attempted if passive restoration does not occur, even if it is difficult to conceive a human driven reestab lishment of communities such as coralligenous ones, whose construction requires millennia. For some bioconstructions, however, restoration through transplants (e.g. of colonies of *A. calycularis*) might be a noticeable exception.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by Italian Ministry of Education, Universities and Research (MIUR) within the scientific research program of national interest "Coastal bioconstructions: structures, functions, and management" (PRIN 2010 11 GA No. 2010Z8HJ5M), the Flagship Project RITMARE "Ricerca ITaliana per il MARE (2012 2016)", the project BIOMAP BIOcostruzioni MArine in Puglia (PO FESR 2007/2013, ASSE IV. Linea 4.4, Puglia Region, Italy), the EU FP7 CoCoNet project "Towards COast to COast NETworks of marine protected areas (from the shore to the high and deep sea), coupled with sea based wind energy potential" (GA No. 287844), the Commission of the European Union (DG ENV) through the project "Achieving coherent networks of marine protected areas (MPAs): analysis of the situation in the Mediterranean Sea"(call for tender ENV.C2/FRA/2016/0017 771344) and the European Union's Horizon 2020 research for the project MERCES (Grant Agreement No. 689518, http://www.merces project.eu). We are thankful to the following people for their precious help and for providing unpublished in situ observations: Nadia Abdelahad, Davide Agnetta, Adriana Alagna, Cinzia Alessi, Fabrizio Atzori, Jamila Bensouissi, Enrico Cecchi, Giovanni D'Anna, Emanuela Claudia La Marca, Federica Fava, Tomas Vega Fernandez, Giulio Franzitta, Vincenzo Maximiliano Giacalone, Michele Gristina, Maja Krzelj, Vesna Macic, Davide Moccia, Luigi Piazzi, Maria Salomidi, Daniela Scala, Giovanni Spanedda, Antonio Terlizzi. Daniele Ven tura provided the photo for the realization of the Sabellaria reef figure. Charles Sheppard is also kindly acknowledged for constructive review of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Adjeroud, M., Guérécheau, A., Vidal Dupiol, J., Flot, J.F., Arnaud Haond, S., Bonhomme, F., 2014. Genetic diversity, clonality and connectivity in the scleractinian coral *Pocillopora damicornis*: a multi scale analysis in an insular fragmented reef system. Mar. Biol. 161 (3), 531 541.
- Airoldi, L., 2000. Effects of disturbance, life histories, and overgrowth on coexistence of algal crusts and turfs. Ecology 81 (3), 798 814.
- Airoldi, L., 2003. The effects of sedimentation on rocky coastal assemblages. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 41, 161–236.

- Aliani, S., Bianchi, C.N., De Asmundis, C., Meloni, R., 1996. Scanning electron microscope observations on the tube of the reef forming serpulid *Ficopomatus enigmaticus* (Fauvel) (Annelida, Polychaeta). Boll. Zool. 62 (4), 363–367.
- Altieri, A.H., Witman, J.D., 2006. Local extinction of a foundation species in a hypoxic estuary: integrating individuals to ecosystem. Ecology 87 (3), 717 730.
- Anderson, M.J., Crist, T.O., Chase, J.M., Vellend, M., Inouye, B.D., Freestone, A.L., et al., 2011. Navigating the multiple meanings of β diversity: a roadmap for the practicing ecologist. Ecol. Lett. 14 (1), 19–28.
- Andersson, A.J., Mackenzie, F.T., Bates, N.R., 2008. Life on the margin: implications of ocean acidification on Mg calcite, high latitude and cold water marine calcifiers. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 373, 265–273.
- Angeletti, L., Taviani, M., Canese, S., Foglini, F., Mastrototaro, F., Argnani, A., et al., 2014. New deep water cnidarian sites in the southern Adriatic Sea. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 15 (2), 263–273.
- Angiolillo, M., di Lorenzo, B., Farcomeni, A., Bo, M., Bavestrello, G., Santangelo, G., et al., 2015. Distribution and assessment of marine debris in the deep Tyrrhenian Sea (NW Mediterranean Sea, Italy). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 92 (1 2), 149 159.
- Antoniadou, C., Chintiroglou, C., 2010. Biodiversity of zoobenthos associated with a *Cladocora caespitosa* bank in the North Aegean Sea. Rapp. Commun. Int. Mer. Méditerr. 39, 4 32.
- Antonioli, F., Chemello, R., Improta, S., Riggio, S., 1999. *Dendropoma* lower intertidal reef for mations and their palaeoclimatological significance (NW Sicily). Mar. Geol. 161, 155–170.
 Antonioli, F., Silenzi, S., Frisia, S., 2001. Tyrrhenian Holocene palaeoclimate trends from spelean serpulids. Quat. Sci. Rev. 20 (15), 1661–1670.
- Antonioli, F., Lo Presti, V., Rovere, A., Ferranti, L., Anzidei, M., Furlani, S., et al., 2015. Tidal notches in Mediterranean Sea: a comprehensive analysis. Quat. Sci. Rev. 119, 66–84.
- Appolloni, L., Sandulli, R., Vetrano, G., Russo, G.F., 2018. Assessing the effects of habitat patches ensuring propagule supply and different costs inclusion in marine spatial planning through multivariate analyses. J. Environ. Manage. 214, 45–55.
- Archambault, P., Bourget, E., 1999. Influence of shoreline configuration on spatial variation of meroplanktonic larvae, recruitment and diversity of benthic subtidal communities. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 238, 161–184.
- Aronson, R.B., Precht, W.F., 2001. White band disease and the changing face of Caribbean coral reefs. Hydrobiologia 460, 25–38.
- Athanasiadis, A., 1997. North Aegean marine algae. IV. *Womersleyella setacea* (Hollenberg) R.E. Norris (Rhodophyta, Ceramiales). Bot. Mar. 40, 473–476.
- Ayata, S.D., Ellien, C., Dumas, F., Dubois, S., Thiébaut, E., 2009. Modelling larval dispersal and settlement of the reef building polychaete *Sabellaria alveolata*: role of hydroclimatic processes on the sustainability of biogenic reefs. Cont. Shelf Res. 29, 1605–1623.
- Balata, D., Piazzi, L., Benedetti Cecchi, L., 2007. Sediment disturbance and loss of beta diversity on subtidal rocky reefs. Ecology 88, 2455–2461.
- Ballesteros, E., 2006. Mediterranean coralligenous assemblages: a synthesis of present knowl edge. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 44, 123 195.
- Ballesteros, E., Torras, X., Pinedo, S., Garcia, M., Mangialajo, L., De Torres, M., 2007. A new methodology based on littoral community cartography dominated by macroalgae for the implementation of the European Framework Directive. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 55, 172–180.
- Ballesteros, E., Garrabou, J., Hereu, B., Zabala, M., Cebrian, E., Sala, E., 2009. Deep water stands of *Cystoseira zosteroides* C. Agardh (Fucales, Ochrophyta) in the Northwestern Mediterranean. Insights into assemblage structure and population dynamics. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 82, 477–484.

Basso, D., Nalin, R., Massari, F., 2007. Genesis and composition of the Pleistocene Coralligène de plateau of the Cutro Terrace (Calabria, southern Italy). N. Jb. Geol. Pal äont. Abh. 244 (2), 173 182. https://doi.org/10.1127/0077 7749/2007/0244 0173.

- Bavestrello, G., Bertone, S., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Cerrano, C., Gaino, E., Zanzi, D., 1994. Mass mortality of *Paramuricea clavata* (Anthozoa, Cnidaria) on Portofino Promontory cliffs, Ligurian Sea, Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Life 4 (1), 15–19.
- Bavestrello, G., Cerrano, C., Zanzi, D., Cattaneo Vietti, R., 1997. Damage by fishing activ ities to the gorgonian coral *Paramuricea clavata* in the Ligurian Sea. Aquat. Conserv. 7, 253 262.
- Bavestrello, G., Bo, M., Canese, S., Sandulli, R., Cattaneo Vietti, R., 2014. The red coral populations of the gulfs of Naples and Salerno: human impact and deep mass mortalities. Ital. J. Zool. 81 (4), 552 563.
- Belmonte, G., Ingrosso, G., Poto, M., Quarta, G., D'Elia, M., Onorato, R., et al., 2009. Biogenic stalactites in submarine caves at the Cape of Otranto (S E Italy): dating and hypothesis on their formation. Mar. Ecol. 30, 376–382.
- Belmonte, G., Calcagnile, L., Quarta, G., D'Elia, M., Russo, R., 2016. In: Biostalactites from Cape of Otranto (south east Italy). ¹⁴C dating of extra tubular calcareous matrix. 51st EMBS, Rhodes 26 30 September 2016, Abstract Book, Poster Presentation: 55.
- Bertocci, I., Badalamenti, F., Lo Brutto, S., Mikac, B., Pipitone, C., Schimmenti, E., et al., 2017. Reducing the data deficiency of threatened European habitats: spatial variation of sabellariid worm reefs and associated fauna in the Sicily Channel, Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Environ. Res. 130, 1–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.08.008.
- Bertolino, M., Calcinai, B., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Cerrano, C., Lafratta, A., Pansini, M., et al., 2013. Stability of the sponge assemblage of the Mediterranean coralligenous along a millennial span of time. Mar. Ecol. 35, 149–158.
- Bertolino, M., Costa, G., Carella, M., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Cerrano, C., Pansini, M., et al., 2017a. The dynamics of a Mediterranean coralligenous sponge assemblage at decennial and millennial temporal scales. PLoS One 12 (5), e0177945.
- Bertolino, M., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Costa, G., Pansini, M., Fraschetti, S., Bavestrello, G., 2017b. Have climate changes driven the diversity of a Mediterranean coralligenous sponge assemblage on a millennial timescale? Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 487, 355–363.
- Beuck, L., Freiwald, A., 2005. Bioerosion patterns in a deep water *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia) thicket (Propeller Mound, northern Porcupine Seabight). In: Freiwald, A., Roberts, J.M. (Eds.), Cold Water Corals and Ecosystems. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 915–936. https://doi.org/10.1007/3 540 27673 4 47.
- Bevilacqua, S., Plicanti, A., Sandulli, R., Terlizzi, A., 2012. Measuring more of β diversity: quantifying patterns of variation in assemblage heterogeneity. An insight from marine benthic assemblages. Ecol. Indic. 18, 140–148.
- Bevilacqua, S., Guarnieri, G., Farella, G., Terlizzi, A., Fraschetti, S., 2018. A regional assess ment of cumulative impact mapping on Mediterranean coralligenous outcrops. Sci. Rep. 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598 018 20297 1.
- Bianchi, C.N., 1981. Policheti Serpuloidei. In: Guide per il riconoscimento delle specie animali delle acque lagunari e costiere italiane. Collana del progetto finalizzato "Promozione della qualità dell'ambiente", serie AQ/1/96, 5. C.N.R., Roma. 187 pp.
- Bianchi, C.N., 2002. La biocostruzione negli ecosistemi marini e la biologia marina italiana. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 8 (1), 112–130.
- Bianchi, C.N., 2004. Proposta di suddivisione dei mari Italiani in settori biogeografici. Notiziario SIBM 46, 57–59.
- Bianchi, C.N., 2007. Biodiversity issues for the forthcoming tropical Mediterranean Sea. Hydrobiologia 580, 7 21.
- Bianchi, C.N., 2009. Priority habitats according to the SPA/BIO protocol (Barcelona Convention) present in Italy. Identification sheets. III.6.114. Facies with *Cladocora caespitosa*. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 16 (Suppl. 1), 163–166.

- Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., 1994. Southern species in the Ligurian Sea (northern Mediterra nean): new records and a review. Boll. Mus. Ist. Biol. Univ. Genova 58 59, 181 197.
- Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., 1996. *Ficopomatus* 'reefs' in the Po River Delta (Northern Adriatic): their constructional dynamics, biology, and influences on the brackish water biota. Mar. Ecol. 17 (1 3), 51 66.
- Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., 2000. Serpuloidea (Annelida Polychaeta) from Milos, an island in
- the Aegean Sea with submarine hydrothermalism. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 80, 259 269.
- Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., 2001. The battle is not to the strong: serpulid reefs in the Lagoon of Orbetello (Tuscany, Italy). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 53, 215–220.
- Bianchi, C.N., Aliani, S., Morri, C., 1995. Present day serpulid reefs, with reference to an on going research project on *Ficopomatus enigmaticus*. Publ. Serv. Géol. Luxembourg 29, 61–65.
- Bianchi, C.N., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Morri, C., Navone, A., Panzalis, P., Orru, P., 2007. Coralligenous formations in the marine protected area of Tavolara Punta Coda Cavallo (N E Sardinia, Italy). Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 14 (2), 148–149.
- Blanfuné, A., Boudouresque, C.F., Verlaque, M., Beqiraj, S., Kashta, L., Nasto, I., et al., 2016. Response of rocky shore communities to anthropogenic pressures in Albania (Mediterranean Sea): ecological status assessment through the CARLIT method. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 109, 409–418.
- Bo, M., Bavestrello, G., Canese, S., Giusti, M., Salvati, E., Angiolillo, M., et al., 2009. Characteristics of a black coral meadow in the twilight zone of the central Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 397, 53 61.
- Bo, M., Bavestrello, G., Canese, S., Giusti, M., Angiolillo, M., Cerrano, C., et al., 2011. Coral assemblage off the Calabrian Coast (South Italy) with new observations on living colonies of *Antipathes dichotoma*. Ital. J. Zool. 78 (2), 231–242.
- Bo, M., Canese, S., Spaggiari, C., Pusceddu, A., Bertolino, M., Angiolillo, M., et al., 2012a. Deep coral oases in the South Tyrrhenian Sea. PLoS One 7 (11), e49870.
- Bo, M., Bertolino, M., Bavestrello, G., Canese, S., Giusti, M., Angiolillo, M., et al., 2012b. Role of deep sponge grounds in the Mediterranean Sea: a case study in southern Italy. Hydrobiologia 687, 163–177.
- Bo, M., Bava, S., Canese, S., Angiolillo, M., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Bavestrello, G., 2014. Fishing impact on deep Mediterranean rocky habitats as revealed by ROV investigation. Biol. Conserv. 171, 167–176.
- Bo, M., Bavestrello, G., Angiolillo, M., Calcagnile, L., Canese, S., Cannas, R., et al., 2015. Persistence of pristine deep sea coral gardens in the Mediterranean Sea (SW Sardinia). PLoS One 10 (3), e0119393.
- Boero, F., 2015. The future of the Mediterranean Sea Ecosystem: towards a different tomorrow. Rend. Lincei 26 (1), 3 12.
- Boero, F., 2017a. F1000Prime Recommendation of [Moura RL et al., Sci Adv 2016, 2(4): e1501252]. In F1000Prime, DOI:10.3410/f.727251160.793528115.
- Boero, F., 2017b. From marine protected areas to MPA networks. In: Goriup, P. (Ed.), Management of Marine Protected Areas. A Network Perspective. Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp. 1 20.
- Boero, F., Foglini, F., Fraschetti, S., Goriup, P., Macpherson, E., Planes, S., et al., 2016. CoCoNET: towards coast to coast networks of marine protected areas (from the shore to the high and deep sea), coupled with sea based wind energy potential. Sci. Res. 6, 1 95. https://doi.org/10.2423/i22394303v6SpI.
- Boissin, E., Micu, D., Janczyszyn Le Goff, M., Neglia, V., Bat, L., Todorova, V., et al., 2016. Contemporary genetic structure and postglacial demographic history of the black scorpionfish, *Scorpaena porcus*, in the Mediterranean and the Black Seas. Mol. Ecol. 25, 2195–2209.

- Bonacorsi, M., Pergent Martini, C., Clabaut, P., Pergent, G., 2012. Coralligenous "atolls": discovery of a new morphotype in the Western Mediterranean Sea. C. R. Biol. 335 (10 11), 668 672.
 Bonifazi, A., 2018. Sabellaria alveolata (Polychaeta, Sabellaiidae) Along Tyrrhenian Costs of
- Bonifazi, `A., 201'8. Sabellaria alveolata (Polychaeta, Sabellaiidae) Along Tyrrhenian Costs of Latium: From Larvae to Reef. PhD Thesis, University of Rome "Tor Vergata".
- Boudouresque, C.F., 1973. Recherches de bionomie analytique, structurale et expérimentale sur les peuplements benthiques sciaphiles de Méditerranée Occidentale (fraction algale). Les peuplements sciaphiles de mode relativement calme sur substrats durs. Bull. Mus. Hist. Nat. Marseille 33, 147–225.
- Boudouresque, C.F., Meinesz, A., 1982. Découverte de l'herbier de Posidonie. Cahiers du Parc National de Port Cros 4, 1 80.
- Boudouresque, C.F., Bernard, G., Pergent, G., Shili, A., Verlaque, M., 2009. Regression of Mediterranean seagrasses caused by natural processes and anthropogenic disturbances and stress: a critical review. Bot. Mar. 52, 395–418.
- Boudouresque, C.F., Blanfuné, A., Harmelin Vivien, M., Personnic, S., Ruitton, S., Thibaut, T., et al., 2015. Where seaweed forests meet animal forests: the examples of macroalgae in coral reefs and the Mediterranean coralligenous ecosystem. In: Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (Eds.), Marine Animal Forests: The Ecology of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots. Springer International Publishing, pp. 1 28.
- Bracchi, V.A., Basso, D., Marchese, F., Corselli, C., Savini, A., 2017. Coralligenous morphotypes on subhorizontal substrate a new categorization. Cont. Shelf Res. 144, 10 20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2017.06.005.
- Bressan, G., Babbini, L., Ghirardelli, L., Basso, D., 2001. Bio costruzione e bio distruzione di Corallinales nel Mar Mediterraneo. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 8, 131 174.
- Bressan, G., Chemello, R., Gravina, M.F., Gambi, M.C., Peirano, A., Cocito, S., et al., 2009. Other types of bioconcretions. In: Relini, G. (Ed.), Marine Bioconstructions Nature's Architectural Seascapes. Italian Habitats 22. Italian Ministry of the Environment and Territorial Protection. Friuli Museum of Natural History, Comune di Udine, pp. 89 150.
- Brodin, T., Piovano, S., Fick, J., Klaminder, J., Heynen, M., Jonsson, M., 2014. Ecological effects of pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems impacts through behavioural alterations.
- Philos. Trans. R Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369 (1656), 20130580.
- Bruno, J.F., Selig, E.R., Casey, K.S., Page, C.A., Willis, B.L., Harvell, C.D., 2007. Thermal stress and coral cover as drivers of coral disease outbreaks. PLoS Biol. 5 (6), e124.
- Buhl Mortensen, P., 2001. Aquarium observations on the deep water coral Lophelia pertusa
- (L., 1758) (scleractinia) and selected associated invertebrates. Ophelia 54, 83–104. Bussotti, S., Terlizzi, A., Fraschetti, S., Belmonte, G., Boero, F., 2006. Spatial and temporal variability of sessile benthos in shallow Mediterranean marine caves. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 325, 109–119.
- Calvo, M., Templado, J., Penchaszadeh, P.E., 1998. Reproductive biology of the gregarious Mediterranean vermetid gastropod *Dendropoma petraeum*. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 78, 525–549.
- Canessa, M., Montefalcone, M., Bavestrello, G., Povero, P., Coppo, S., Morri, C., Bianchi, C.N., 2017. Fishery maps contain approximate but useful information for inferring the distribution of marine habitats of conservation interest. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 187, 74–83.
- Cannas, R., Sacco, F., Cau, A., Coluccia, E., Follesa, M.C., Cau, A., 2015. New insights into connectivity patterns of mesophotic red coral (*Corallium rubrum*) populations. Hydrobiologia 759 (1), 63 73.
- Cannas, R., Sacco, F., Cau, A., Cuccu, D., Follesa, M.C., Cau, A., 2016. Genetic monitor ing of deep water exploited banks of the precious Sardinia coral *Corallium rubrum* (L., 1758): useful data for a sustainable management. Aquat. Conserv. 26 (2), 236–250.

Cánovas Molina, A., Montefalcone, M., Gatti, G., Morri, C., Bavestrello, G., Coppo, S., et al., 2013. Preliminary assessment of coralligenous reef distribution in Liguria (NW Mediterranean Sea). Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 20 (1), 160–161.

Cánovas Molina, A., Montefalcone, M., Canessa, M., Coppo, S., Diviacco, G., Morri,

- C., et al., 2014. In: Bouafif, C., Langar, H., Ouerghi, A. (Eds.), Coralligenous reefs in Liguria: distribution and characterization. Proceedings of the Second Mediterranean Sym posium on the Conservation of Coralligenous and Other Calcareous Bio Concretions. UNEP/MAP RAC/SPA, Tunis, pp. 55–60.
- Cánovas Molina, A., Montefalcone, M., Vassallo, P., Morri, C., Bianchi, C.N., Bavestrello, G., 2016. Combining literature review, acoustic mapping and in situ observations: an over view of coralligenous assemblages in Liguria (NW Mediterranean Sea). Sci. Mar. 80 (1), 7–16.
- Carlier, A., Le Guilloux, E., Olu, K., Sarrazin, J., Mastrototaro, F., Taviani, M., et al., 2009. Trophic relationships in a deep Mediterranean cold water coral bank (Santa Maria di Leuca, Ionian Sea). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 397, 125–137.
- Carozzi, A.V., 1961. Reef petrography in the Beaverhill Lake Formation, Upper Devonian, Swan Hills area, Alberta, Canada. J. Sediment. Petrol. 31, 497–513.
- Carozzi, A.V., Zadnik, V.E., 1959. Microfacies of Wabash reef, Wabash, Indiana. J. Sediment. Petrol. 29, 164–171.
- Casado, C., Kersting, D.K., Cebrian, E., Teixidó, N., Garrabou, J., Linares, C., 2015. Rapid recovery from injuries in the temperate long lived coral *Cladocora caespitosa*. Mar. Biodivers. 45, 135–137.
- Casado Amezua, P., Garcia Jimenez, R., Kersting, D.K., Templado, J., Coffroth, M.A., Merino, P., et al., 2011. Development of microsatellite markers as a molecular tool for conservation studies of the Mediterranean reef builder coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia). J. Hered. 102 (5), 622–626.
- Casado Amezua, P., Goffredo, S., Templado, J., Machordom, A., 2012. Genetic assessment of population structure and connectivity in the threatened Mediterranean coral Astroides cal-
- ycularis (Scleractinia, Dendrophyllidae) at different spatial scales. Mol. Ecol. 21, 2671–2685. Casado Amezúa, P., Kersting, D., Linares, C.L., Bo, M., Caroselli, E., Garrabou, J., et al., 2015. *Cladocora caespitosa*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015. e T133142A75872554.
- Casoli, E., Nicoletti, L., Mastrantonio, G., Jona Lasinio, G., Belluscio, A., Ardizzone, G., 2016. Scuba diving damage on coralligenous builders: bryozoan species as an indicator of stress. Ecol. Indic. 74, 441–450.
- Cattaneo Vietti, R., Albertelli, G., Aliani, S., Bava, S., Bavestrello, G., Cecchi, L.B., 2010. The Ligurian Sea: present status, problems and perspectives. Chem. Ecol. 26 (S1), 319–340.
- Cattaneo Vietti, R., Bo, M., Cannas, R., Cau, A., Follesa, C., Meliadò, E., et al., 2016. An overexploited Italian treasure: past and present distribution and exploitation of the precious red coral *Corallium rubrum* (L., 1758) (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Ital. J. Zool. 83 (4), 443 455.
- Cattaneo Vietti, R., Bavestrello, G., Bo, M., Canese, S., Vigo, A., Andaloro, F., 2017. Illegal ingegno fishery and conservation of deep red coral banks in the Sicily Channel (Mediterranean Sea). Aquat. Conserv. 27 (3), 604 616.
- Cau, A., Follesa, M.C., Moccia, D., Alvito, A., Bo, M., Angiolillo, M., et al., 2015a. Deepwater corals biodiversity along roche du large ecosystems with different habitat complexity along the south Sardinia continental margin (CW Mediterranean Sea). Mar. Biol. 162 (9), 1865 1878.
- Cau, A., Paliaga, E.M., Cannas, R., Deiana, G., Follesa, M.C., Sacco, F., et al., 2015b. Preliminary data on habitat characterization relevance for red coral conservation and management. Ital. J. Geosci. 134 (1), 60–68.

- Cau, A., Bramanti, L., Cannas, R., Follesa, M.C., Angiolillo, M., Canese, S., et al., 2016. Habitat constraints and self thinning shape Mediterranean red coral deep population structure: implications for conservation practice. Sci. Rep. 6, 23322.
- Cau, A., Alvito, A., Moccia, D., Canese, S., Pusceddu, A., Rita, C., et al., 2017a. Submarine canyons along the upper Sardinian slope (Central Western Mediterranean) as repositories for derelict fishing gears. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 123 (1 2), 357 364.
- Cau, A., Moccia, D., Follesa, M.C., Alvito, A., Canese, S., Angiolillo, M., et al., 2017b. Coral forests diversity in the outer shelf of the south Sardinian continental margin. Deep Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 122, 60 70.
- Cau, A., Follesa, M.C., Moccia, D., Bellodi, A., Mulas, A., Bo, M., et al., 2017c. *Leiopathes glaberrima* millennial forest from SW Sardinia as nursery ground for the small spotted catshark Scyliorhinus canicula. Aquat. Conserv. 27 (3), 731 735.
- Causio, S., Giangrande, E., Belmonte, G., 2015. Identification of Serpulidae (Polychaeta) responsible of stalactite cores in Italian submarine caves. 50th EMBS, Helgoland 21 25 September 2015, Abstract Book, Oral Presentation: 44.
- Cebrian, E., Linares, C., Marschal, C., Garrabou, J., 2012. Exploring the effects of invasive algae on the persistence of gorgonian populations. Biol. Invasions 14 (12), 2647 2656.
- Cerdeira, J.O., Pinto, L.S., Cabeza, M., Gaston, K.J., 2010. Species specific connectivity in reserve network design using graphs. Biol. Conserv. 143 (2), 408 415.
- Cerrano, C., Bavestrello, G., Bianchi, C.N., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Bava, S., Morganti, C., et
- al., 2000. A catastrophic mass mortality episode of gorgonians and other organisms in the Ligurian Sea (North western Mediterranean), summer 1999. Ecol. Lett. 3, 284–293.
- Cerrano, C., Bavestrello, G., Bianchi, C.N., Calcinai, B., Cattaneo Vietti, R., Morri, C., et al., 2001. The role of sponge bioerosion in the Mediterranean coralligenous accretion. In: Faranda, F.M., Guglielmo, L., Spezie, G. (Eds.), Mediterranean Ecosystems: Structure and Processes. Springer Verlag, Italy, pp. 235–240.
- Chemello, R., 2009. Le biocostruzioni marine in Mediterraneo. Lo stato delle conoscenze sui reef a vermeti. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 16 (1), 2–18.
- Chemello, R., Silenzi, S., 2011. Vermetid reefs in the Mediterranean Sea as archives of sea level and surface temperature changes. Chem. Ecol. 27 (2), 121 127.
- Chemello, R., Giacalone, A., La Marca, E., Templado, J., Milazzo, M., 2014. In: Distribution and conservation needs of a neglected ecosystem: the Mediterranean Vermetid Reef. 2nd Mediterranean Symposium on the Conservation of Coralligenous & Other Calcareous Bio Concretions, pp. 203–204.
- Chimienti, G., Stithou, M., Dalle Mura, I., Mastrototaro, F., D'Onghia, G., Tursi, A., Izzi, C., Fraschetti, S., 2017. An explorative assessment of the importance of Mediterranean Cor alligenous habitat to local economy: the case of recreational diving. J. Environ. Account. Manag. 5 (4), 310 320. https://doi.org/10.5890/JEAM.2017.12.004.
- Chimienti, G., Bo, M., Mastrototaro, F., 2018a. Know the distribution to assess the changes: Mediterranean cold water coral bioconstructions. Rend. Lincei 1 6.
- Chimienti, G., Bo, M., Taviani, M., Mastrototaro, F., 2018b. Occurrence and biogeography of Mediterranean cold water corals. In: Orejas, C., Jiménez, (Eds.), Mediterranean
- Cold Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Springer. (in press).
- Cinelli, F., Fresi, E., Mazzella, L., Pansini, M., Pronzato, R., Svoboda, A., 1977. Distribution of benthic phyto and zoocoenoses along a light gradient in a superficial marine cave. In: Keegan, B.F., Ceidigh, P.O., Boaden, P.J.S. (Eds.), Biology of Benthic Organisms. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp. 173–183.
- Cocito, S., 2004. Bioconstruction and biodiversity: their mutual influence. Sci. Mar. 68 (1), 137–144.
- Cocito, S., Sgorbini, S., Bianchi, C.N., 1997. Zonation of a suspension feeder assemblage on a temperate rocky shoal: the influence of water current and bottom topography. In: Hawkins, L.E., Hutchinson, S. (Eds.), The Response of Marine Organisms to Their Environments. University of Southampton, UK, pp. 183–192.

- Cocito, S., Sgorbini, S., Bianchi, C.N., 1998. Aspects of the biology of the bryozoan *Pentapora fascialis* in the north western Mediterranean. Mar. Biol. 131 (1), 73 82.
- Colantoni, P., Gallignani, P., 1975. In: Seafloor types and recent sedimentation on the con tinental shelf between Manfredonia and Trani (Southern Adriatic Sea). Proceedings of the 8th Symposium of the Underwater Association, London, pp. 115–132.
- Cole, V.J., Chapman, M.G., 2007. Patterns of distribution of annelids: taxonomic and spatial inconsistencies between two biogeographic provinces and across multiple spatial scales. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 345, 235–241.
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Kaschner, K., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Aguzzi, J., et al., 2010. The biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: estimates, patterns, and threats. PLoS
- One 5, e11842. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011842.s002.
- Coma, R., Polà, E., Ribes, M., Zabala, M., 2004. Long term assessment of temperate octocoral mortality patterns, protected vs. unprotected areas. Ecol. Appl. 14, 1466–1478.
- Connell, S., 2005. Assembly and maintenance of subtidal habitat heterogeneity: synergistic effects of light penetration and sedimentation. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 289, 53–61.
- Cormaci, M., Furnari, G., Scamacca, B., 1985. Osservazioni sulle fitocenosi bentoniche del golfo di Augusta (Siracusa). Boll. Accad. Gioenia Sci. Nat. 18, 851–872.
- Cornwall, C.E., Revill, A.T., Hall Spencer, J.M., Milazzo, M., Raven, J.A., Hurd, C.L., 2017. Inorganic carbon physiology underpins macroalgal responses to elevated CO₂. Sci. Rep. 7, 46297.
- Cossu, A., Gazale, V., 1997. Osservazioni ecologiche sulla distribuzione di *Lithophyllum lichenoides* Philippi (Corallinales, Rhodophyta) nelle isole della Sardegna settentrionale. Boll. Soc. Sard. Sci. Nat. 31, 101 119.

Costantini, F., Gori, A., Lopez González, P., Bramanti, L., Rossi, S., Gili, J.M., et al., 2016a. Limited genetic connectivity between gorgonian morphotypes along a depth gradient. PLoS One 11 (8), e0160678.

- Costantini, F., Aurelle, D., Ledoux, J. B., Abbiati, M., 2016b. Population genetic structure of *Corallium rubrum* in the Mediterranean Sea: diversity, phylogeography, and bathymetric pat terns. In: Goffredo, S., Dubinsky, Z. (Eds.), The Cnidaria, Past, Present and Future. The World of Medusa and Her Sisters. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 717–728.
- Costantini, F., Addamo, A.M., Machordom, A., Abbiati, M., 2017. Genetic connectivity and conservation of habitat forming corals in temperate deep seas. In: Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (Eds.), Marine Animal Forests. The Ecology of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots. Springer International Publishing, pp. 1061–1082.
- Costantini, F., Ferrario, F., Abbiati, M., 2018. Chasing genetic structure in coralligenous reef invertebrates: patterns, criticalities and conservation issues. Sci. Rep. 8 (1), 5844.
- Curiel, D., Falace, A., Bandelj, V., Kaleb, S., Solidoro, C., Ballesteros, E., 2012. Species com position and spatial variability of macroalgal assemblages on biogenic reefs in the northern Adriatic Sea. Bot. Mar. 55, 625–638. https://doi.org/10.1515/bot 2012 0166.
- D'Onghia, G., Maiorano, P., Sion, L., Giove, A., Capezzuto, F., Carlucci, R., et al., 2010. Effects of deep water coral banks on the abundance and size structure of the megafauna in the Mediterranean Sea. Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 57 (5), 397 411.
- D'Onghia, G., Indennidate, A., Giove, A., Savini, A., Capezzuto, F., Sion, L., et al., 2011. Distribution and behaviour of deep sea benthopelagic fauna observed using towed cameras in the Santa Maria di Leuca cold water coral province. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 443, 95 110.
- D'Onghia, G., Maiorano, P., Carlucci, R., Capezzuto, F., Carluccio, A., Tursi, A., et al., 2012. Comparing deep sea fish fauna between coral and non coral "megahabitats" in the Santa Maria di Leuca cold water coral province (Mediterranean Sea). PLoS One 7 (9), e44509.
- D'Onghia, G., Capezzuto, F., Cardone, F., Carlucci, R., Carluccio, A., Chimienti, G., et al., 2015. Macro and megafauna recorded in the submarine Bari Canyon (southern Adriatic, Mediterranean Sea) using different tools. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 16 (1), 180–196.

- European Commission, 2013. Interpretation Manual of European Union Habitats EUR 28. European Commission, DG Environment, Brussels. Available at http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/docs/Int Manual EU28.pdf.
- European Community, 1992. Council directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. Off. J. Eur. Union 206, 7 50.
- European Community, 2008. Council directive 2008/56/EC establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine strategy frame work directive). Off. J. Eur. Union, L164, 19 40.
- Fabri, M.C., Pedel, L., Beuck, L., Galgani, F., Hebbeln, D., Freiwald, A., 2014. Megafauna
- of vulnerable marine ecosystems in French Mediterranean submarine canyons: spatial distribution and anthropogenic impacts. Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 104, 184–207.
- Fabricius, K.E., Kluibenschedl, Â., Harrington, L., Noonan, S., De'ath, G., 2015. In situ changes of tropical crustose coralline algae along carbon dioxide gradients. Sci. Rep. 5, 9537. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09537.
- Fagerstrom, J.A., 1987. The Evolution of Reef Communities. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Faivre, S., Bakran Petricioli, T., Horvatincic, N., Sironic, A., 2013. Distinct phases of relative sea level changes in the central Adriatic during the last 1500 years influence of climatic variations? Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 369, 163–174.
- Falace, A., Kaleb, S., Curiel, D., Miotti, C., Galli, G., Querin, S., et al., 2015. Calcareous bio concretions in the Northern Adriatic Sea: habitat types, environmental factors that influence habitat distributions, and predictive modeling. PLoS One 10, e0140931. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140931.s006.
- Fava, F., Ponti, M., Abbiati, M., 2016. Role of recruitment processes in structuring coralligenous benthic assemblages in the Northern Adriatic continental shelf. PLoS One 11, e0163494. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163494.
- Ferrigno, F., Russo, G.F., Sandulli, R., 2017. Coralligenous bioconstructions quality index (CBQI): a synthetic indicator to assess the status of different types of coralligenous habitats. Ecol. Indic. 82, 271–279.
- Firth, L.B., Mieszkowska, N., Grant, L.M., Bush, L.E., Davies, A.J., Frost, M.T., et al., 2015. Historical comparisons reveal multiple drivers of decadal change of an ecosystem engineer at the range edge. Ecol. Evol. 5 (15), 3210–3222.
- Fong, P.P., Ford, A.T., 2014. The biological effects of antidepressants on the molluscs and crustaceans: a review. Aquat. Toxicol. 151, 4 13.
- Fox, W.T., 2005. Bioconstruction. In: Schwartz, M.L. (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Coastal Science. Springer, pp. 186–188.
- Fraschetti, S., Terlizzi, A., Boero, F., 2008. How many habitats are there in the sea (and where)? J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 366 (1 2), 109 115.
- Fraschetti, S., Terlizzi, A., D'Ambrosio, P., Maiorano, P., Tursi, A., Mastrototaro, F., et al., 2009. Marine sites of community importance (SCIs): state of knowledge and implication in monitoring strategies, management and conservation. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 16 (1), 84–87.
- Fredj, G., Laubier, L., 1985. The deep Mediterranean benthos. In: Moraitou Apostopoulou, M., Kiortsis, V. (Eds.), Mediterranean Marine Ecosystems. Plenum Press, New York, London, pp. 169–188. (NATO Conference Series).
- Freiwald, A., Beuck, L., Rüggeberg, A., Taviani, M., Hebbeln, D., R/V METEOR CRUISE M70 1 Participants, 2009. The white coral community in the central Medi terranean Sea revealed by ROV surveys. Oceanography 22 (1), 58 74.
- Gadaleta, F., Mercurio, M., Cardone, F., Corriero, G., 2015. Indagini biocenotiche sui popolamenti bentonici di substrato duro dei fondali marini dell'Area Marina Protetta Torre del Cerrano. Relazione Conclusiva. Università degli Studi di Bari.
- Galil, B.S., 2013. Going going gone: the loss of a reef building gastropod (Mollusca: Caenogastropoda: Vermetidae) in the southeast Mediterranean Sea. Zool. Middle East. 59, 179–182.

- Garrabou, J., Ballesteros, E., 2000. Growth of Mesophyllum alternans and Lithophyllum frondosum (Corallinales, Rhodophyta) in the northwestern Mediterranean. Eur. J. Phycol. 35, 1 10. https://doi.org/10.1080/09670260010001735571.
- Garrabou, J., Sala, E., Arcas, A., Zabala, M., 1998. The impact of diving on rocky sublittoral communities: a case study of a bryozoan population. Conserv. Biol. 12, 302–312.
- Garrabou, J., Coma, R., Bensoussan, N., Bally, M., Chevaldonné, P., Cigliano, M., et al., 2009. Mass mortality in Northwestern Mediterranean rocky benthic communities: effects of the 2003 heat wave. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15 (5), 1090 1103.
- Gaston, K.J., Davies, R.G., Orme, C.D.L., Olson, V.A., Thomas, G.H., Ding, T.S., et al., 2007a. Spatial turnover in the global avifauna. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274 (1618), 1567–1574.
- Gaston, K.J., Evans, K.L., Lennon, J.J., 2007b. The scaling of spatial turnover: pruning the thicket. In: Storch, D., Marquet, P., Brown, J.H. (Eds.), Scaling Biodiversity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 181–222.
- Gatti, G., Montefalcone, M., Rovere, A., Parravicini, V., Morri, C., Albertelli, G., Bianchi, C.N., 2012. Seafloor integrity down the harbor waterfront: the coralligenous shoals off Vado Ligure (NW Mediterranean). Adv. Oceanogr. Limnol. 3 (1), 51 67.
- Gatti, G., Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., Montefalcone, M., Sartoretto, S., 2015a. Coralligenous reefs state along anthropized coasts: application and validation of the COARSE index, based on a rapid visual assessment (RVA) approach. Ecol. Indic. 52, 567–576.
- Gatti, G., Bianchi, C.N., Parravicini, V., Rovere, A., Peirano, A., Montefalcone, M., et al., 2015b. Ecological change, sliding baselines and the importance of historical data: lessons from combining observational and quantitative data on a temperate reef over 70 years. PLoS One 10 (2), e0118581.
- Gatti, G., Bianchi, C.N., Montefalcone, M., Venturini, S., Diviacco, G., Morri, C., 2017.
- Observational information on a temperate reef community helps understanding the

marine climate and ecosystem shift of the 1980 90s. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 114 (1), 528 538.

- Gattuso, J.P., Magnan, A., Bille, R., Cheung, W.W.L., Howes, E.L., Joos, F., et al., 2015. Contrasting futures for ocean and society from different anthropogenic CO₂ emissions scenarios. Science 349, aac4722. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac4722.
- Gaylord, B., Reed, D.C., Raimondi, P.T., Washburn, L., McLean, S.R., 2002. A physically based model of macroalgal spore dispersal in the wave and current dominated nearshore. Ecology 83, 1239–1251.
- Giordani Šoika, A., 1956. Scogliera pseudocorallina intercotidale di *Sabellaria alveolata* (L.) nelle coste del Lazio (Ann. Polych.). Boll. Mus. Civ. Venezia 9, 11 13.
- Glenn, R.P., Pugh, T.L., 2006. Epizootic shell disease in American lobster (*Homarus americanus*) in Massachusetts coastal waters: interactions of temperature, maturity, and intermolt duration. J. Crustac. Biol. 26 (4), 639–645.
- Goffredo, S., Gasparini, G., Marconi, G., Putignano, M.T., Pazzini, C., Airi, V., Zaccanti, F., 2011. Sexual reproduction in the Mediterranean endemic orange coral, *Astroides calycularis* (Scleractinia, Dendrophylliidae). Bull. Mar. Sci. 87, 589–604.
- Goldberg, W.M., 2013. The Biology of Reefs and Reef Organisms. University of Chicago Press.
- Gordini, E., Falace, A., Kaleb, S., Donda, F., Marocco, R., Tunis, G., 2012. Methane related carbonate cementation of marine sediments and related macroalgal coralligenous assemblages in the northern Adriatic Sea. In: Harris, P.T., Baker, E.K. (Eds.), Seafloor Geomorphology as Benthic Habitat. Elsevier Inc, pp. 185–200.
- Gori, A., Orejas, C., Madurell, T., Bramanti, L., Martins, M., Quintanilla, E., et al., 2013. Bathymetrical distribution and size structure of cold water coral populations in the Cap de Creus and Lacaze Duthiers canyons (northwestern Mediterranean). Biogeosciences 10 (3), 2049.

- Gori, A., Ferrier Pagès, C., Hennige, S.J., Murray, F., Rottier, C., Wicks, L.C., Roberts, J.M., 2016. Physiological response of the cold water coral *Desmophyllum dianthus* to thermal stress and ocean acidification. PeerJ 4, e1606.
- Gori, A., Bavestrello, G., Grinyó, J., Dominguez Carrió, C., Ambroso, S., Bo, M.,
- 201 Animal forests in deep coastal bottoms and continental shelf of the Mediterranean Sea. In: Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (Eds.), Marine Animal Forests: The Ecology of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots. Springer International Publishing, pp. 1 28.
- Gravina, M.F., Cardone, F., Bonifazi, A., Bertrandino, M.S., Chimienti, G., Longo, C., et al., 2018. Sabellaria spinulosa (Polychaeta, Annelida) reefs in the Mediterranean Sea: habitat mapping, dynamics and associated fauna for conservation management. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 200, 248–257.
- Graziano, M., Di Franco, A., Franzitta, G., Milazzo, M., Chemello, R., 2007. Effetti di differenti tipologie di impatto antropico sui reef a vermeti. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 14 (2), 306–307.
- Grubelic, I., Antolic, B., Despalatovic, M., Grbec, B., Beg Paklar, G., 2004. Effect of climatic fluctuations on the distribution of warm water coral *Astroides calycularis* in the Adriatic Sea new records and review. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 84, 599 602.
- Gruet, Y., 1971 1972. Morphologie, croissance et faune associée des récifs de Sabellaria alveolata (Linné) de la Bernerie en Retz (Loire Atlantique). Tethys 3 (2), 321 380.
- Gruet, Y., 1986. Spatio temporal changes of Sabellarian reefs buit by the sedentary polychaete Sabellaria alveolata (Linné). Mar. Ecol. 7 (4), 303 319.
- Guarnieri, G., Terlizzi, A., Bevilacqua, S., Fraschetti, S., 2012. Increasing heterogeneity of sensitive assemblages as a consequence of human impact in submarine caves. Mar. Biol. 159, 1155–1164.
- Gubbay, S., Sanders, N., Haynes, T., Janssen, J.R., Rodwell, J.A.M., Nieto, M., et al., 2016. European Red List of Habitats. Part 1. Marine Habitats. European Union Publication Offices.
- Guidetti, P., Milazzo, M., Bussotti, S., Molinari, A., Murenu, M., Pais, A., et al., 2008. Italian marine reserve effectiveness: does enforcement matter? Biol. Conserv. 141, 699–709.
- Guido, A., Mastandrea, A., Rosso, A., Sanfilippo, R., Russo, F., 2012. Micrite precipitation induced by reducing sulfate bacteria in serpulid bioconstructions from submarine caves (Syracuse, Sicily). Rend. Online Soc. Geol. Ital. 21, 933–934.
- Guido, A., Heindel, K., Birgel, D., Rosso, A., Mastandrea, A., Sanfilippo, R., et al., 2013. Pendant bioconstructions cemented by microbial carbonate in submerged marine caves (Holocene, SE Sicily). Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 388, 166–180.
- Guido, A., Mastandrea, A., Rosso, A., Sanfilippo, R., Tosti, F., Riding, R., et al., 2014. Commensal symbiosis between agglutinated polychaetes and sulfate reducing bacteria. Geobiology 12, 165–175.
- Hall, N.M., Berry, K.L.E., Rintoul, L., Hoogenboom, M.O., 2015. Microplastic ingestion by scleractinian corals. Mar. Biol. 162, 725–732.
- Harvell, C.D., Kim, K., Burkholder, J.M., Colwell, R.R., Epstein, P.R., Grimes, D.J., et al., 1999. Emerging marine diseases climate links and anthropogenic factors. Science 285 (5433), 1505–1510.
- Harvell, D., Aronson, R., Baron, N., Connell, J., Dobson, A., Ellner, S., et al., 2004. The rising tide of ocean diseases: unsolved problems and research priorities. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2 (7), 375–382.
- Hendrick, V.K., Foster Smith, R.L., 2006. Sabellaria spinulosa reef: a scoring system for evaluating 'reefiness' in the context of the Habitat Directive. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 86, 665–677.
- Henry, L.A., Roberts, J.M., 2017. Global biodiversity in cold water coral reef ecosystems. In: Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (Eds.), Marine Animal Forests. The Ecol ogy of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots. Springer International Publishing, pp. 235–256.

Hilário, A., Metaxas, A., Gaudron, S.M., Howell, K.L., Mercier, A., Mestre, N.C., et al., 2015. Estimating dispersal distance in the deep sea: challenges and applications to marine reserves. Front. Mar. Sci. 2, 6.

Hoegh Guldberg, O., Cai, R., Poloczanska, E.S., Brewer, P.G., Sundby, S., Hilmi, K., et

- al., 2014. The ocean. In: Field, C.B., Barros, V.R., Mach, K., Mastrandrea, M. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contri bution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 1655–1731.
- Hong, J. S., 1980. Etude faunistique d'un fond de concrétionnement de type coralligène soumis à un gradient de pollution en Méditerranée nord occidentale (Golfe de Fos). Thèse Dr, Univ. Aix Marseille II, pp. 1 268.
- Hong, J. S., 1982. Contribution à l'étude des peuplements d'un fond de concrétionnement Coralligène dans la région marseillaise en Méditerranée nord occidentale. Bull. Korea Ocean Res. Dev. Inst. 4, 27 51.
- Howarth, R.W., Anderson, D.B., Cloern, J.E., Elfring, C., Hopkinson, C.S., Lapointe, B., et al., 2000. Nutrient pollution of coastal rivers, bays, and seas. Issues Ecol. 7, 1 15.
- Hughes, T.P., 1994. Catastrophes, phase shifts, and large scale degradation of a Caribbean coral reef. Science 265 (5178), 1547 1551.
- Humanes, A., Ricardo, G.F., Willis, B.L., Fabricius, K.E., Negri, A.P., 2017. Cumulative effects of suspended sediments, organic nutrients and temperature stress on early life history stages of the coral *Acropora tenuis*. Sci. Rep. 7, 1 11.
- Humphrey, C., Weber, M., Lott, C., Cooper, T., Fabricius, K., 2008. Effects of suspended sediments, dissolved inorganic nutrients and salinity on fertilisation and embryo devel opment in the coral Acropora millepora (Ehrenberg, 1834). Coral Reefs 27, 837.
- Hunt, H.L., Scheibling, R.E., 1997. Role of early post settlement mortality in recruitment of benthic marine invertebrates. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 155, 269–301.
- Hurd, C.L., 2015. Slow flow habitats as refugia for coastal calcifiers from ocean acidification. J. Phycol. 51, 599–605.
- Ingrosso, G., De Leo, F., Fraschetti, S., Boero, F., 2017a. In: Assessing the potential connectivity of coralligenous habitat in the central Mediterranean Sea by an oceanographic based dispersal model. Proceedings of the 3rd International Marine Con nectivity Conference (iMarco), September 11 13, 2017 Louvain la Neuve, Belgium.
- Ingrosso, G., Bensi, M., Cardin, V., Giani, M., 2017b. Anthropogenic CO₂ in a dense water formation area of the Mediterranean Sea. Deep Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 123, 118 128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2017.04.004.
- IUCN WCPA, 2018. (Draft) Guidelines for Recognising and Reporting Other Effective 27 Area Based Conservation Measures. IUCN, Switzerland. Version 1.
- Jackson, J.B.C., 1977. Competition on marine hard substrata: the adaptive significance of solitary and colonial strategies. Am. Nat. 111 (980), 743 767.
- Jiménez, C., Hadjioannou, L., Petrou, A., Nikolaidis, A., Evriviadou, M., Lange, M.A., 2016. Mortality of the scleractinian coral *Cladocora caespitosa* during a warming event in the Levantine Sea (Cyprus). Reg. Environ. Chang. 16, 1963–1973.
- Jones, C.G., Lawton, J.H., Shachak, M., 1994. Organisms as ecosystem engineers. Oikos 69, 373–386.
- Jones, C.G., Lawton, J.H., Shachak, M., 1997. Positive and negative effects of organisms as physical ecosystem engineers. Ecology 78, 1946–1957.
- Jones, H.P., Jones, P.C., Barbier, E.B., Blackburn, R.C., Benayas, J.M.R., Holl,
- K.Det al., 2018. Restoration and repair of Earth's damaged ecosystems. Proc. R. Soc. B 285 (1873), 1 8.
- Keen, A.M., 1961. A proposed reclassification of the gastropod family Vermetidae. Bull. Br. Mus. Nat. Hist. 7 (3), 181 213.

Kersting, D.K., Linares, C., 2012. *Cladocora caespitosa* bioconstructions in the Columbretes Islands Marine Reserve (Spain, NW Mediterranean): distribution, size structure and growth. Mar. Ecol. 33, 427–436.

Kersting, D.K., Bensoussan, N., Linares, C., 2013. Long term responses of the endemic reef

- builder Cladocora caespitosa to Mediterranean warming. PLoS One 8 (8), e70820. Kersting, D.K., Ballesteros, E., De Caralt, S., Linares, C., 2014a. Invasive macrophytes in a marine reserve (Columbretes Islands, NW Mediterranean): spread dynamics and interactions with the endemic scleractinian coral Cladocora caespitosa. Biol. Invasions 16, 1599 1610.
- Kersting, D.K., Teixidó, N., Linares, C., 2014b. Recruitment and mortality of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa*: implications for the recovery of endangered populations. Coral Reefs 33, 403–407.
- Kersting, D.K., Cebrian, E., Verdura, J., Ballesteros, E., 2017a. Rolling corals in the Mediterranean Sea. Coral Reefs 36, 245.
- Kersting, D.K., Cebrian, E., Verdura, J., Ballesteros, E., 2017b. A new *Cladocora caespitosa* population with unique ecological traits. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 18 (1), 38 42.
- Kim, K., Dobson, A.P., Gulland, F.M., Harvell, C.D., 2005. Diseases and the conservation of marine biodiversity. In: Norse, E., Crowder, L. (Eds.), Marine Conservation Biology. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp. 149–166.
- Kool, J.T., Moilanen, A., Treml, E.A., 2012. Population connectivity: recent advances and new perspectives. Landsc. Ecol. 28, 165–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980_012_9819_z.
- Koukouras, A., Kühlmann, D., Voultsiadou, E., Vafidis, D., Dounas, C., Chintiroglou, C., Koutsoubas, D., 1998. The macrofaunal assemblage associated with the scleractinian coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (L.) in the Aegean Sea. Ann. Inst. Océanogr. Paris Nouv. Ser. 74, 97–114.
- Kraft, N.J., Comita, L.S., Chase, J.M., Sanders, N.J., Swenson, N.G., Crist, T.O., 2011. Disentangling the drivers of β diversity along latitudinal and elevational gradients. Science 333 (6050), 1755–1758.
- Kroeker, K.J., Kordas, R.L., Crim, R., Hendriks, I.E., Ramajo, L., Singh, G.S., et al., 2013. Impacts of ocean acidification on marine organisms: quantifying sensitivities and inter action with warming. Glob. Change Biol. 19, 1884–1896. https://doi.org/10.1111/ gcb.12179.
- Kružić, P., 2014. Bioconstructions in the Mediterranean: present and future. In: Goffredo, S., Dubinsky, Z. (Eds.), The Mediterranean Sea. Springer, Netherlands, pp. 435–447.
- Kružić, P., Benković, L., 2008. Bioconstructional features of the coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) in the Adriatic Sea (Croatia). Mar. Ecol. 29, 125–139.
 Kružić, P., Požar Domac, A., 2007. Impact of tuna farming on the banks of the coral *Cladocora caespitosa* in the Adriatic Sea. Coral Reefs 26, 665.
- Kružić, P., Zuljević, A., Nikolić, V., 2008. The highly invasive alga Caulerpa racemosa var. cylindracea poses a new threat to the banks of the coral Cladocora caespitosa in the Adriatic Sea. Coral Reefs 27, 441.
- Kružíc, P., Zibrowius, H., Požar Domac, A., 2002. Actiniaria and Scleractinia (Cnidaria, Anthozoa) from the Adriatic Sea (Croatia): first records, confirmed occurrences and significant range extensions of certain species. Ital. J. Zool. 69, 345–353.
- Kružić, P., Sršen, P., Benković, L., 2012. The impact of seawater temperature on coral growth parameters of the colonial coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) in the Eastern Adriatic Sea. Facies 58, 477–491.
- Kružić, P., Lipej, L., Mavrić, B., Rodić, P., 2014. Impact of bleaching on the coral *Cladocora caespitosa* in the eastern Adriatic Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 509, 193–202.
- Laborel, J., 1961. Le concrétionnement algal "coralligène" et son importance géomorphologique en Méditerranée. Rec. Trav. St. Mar. Endoume 23, 37 60.
 - Laborel, J., 1987. Marine biogenic constructions in the Mediterranean: a review. Sci. Rep. Port Cros Natl. Park 13, 97 126.

- Laborel, J., Morhange, C., Laborel Deguen, F., 1993. L'élévation récente du niveau marin sur le littoral rocheux de la Corse du nord. Trav. Sci. Parc Nat. Rég. Rés. Nat. Corse Fr. 41, 33 39.
- Laubier, L., 1966. Le coralligène des Albères: monographie biocénotique. Ann. Inst. Oceanogr. 43, 139–316.
- La Porta, B., Nicoletti, L., 2009. *Sabellaria alveolata* (Linnaeus) reefs in the central Tyrrhenian Sea (Italy) and associated polychaete fauna. Zoosymposia 2, 527–536.
- Linares, C., Coma, R., Diaz, D., Zabala, M., Hereu, B., Dantart, L., 2005. Immediate and delayed effects of mass mortality event on gorgonian population dynamics and benthic

community structure in the NW Mediterranean. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 305, 127 137. Lisco,

- S., Moretti, M., Moretti, V., Cardone, F., Corriero, G., Longo, C., 2017. Sedimen tological features of *Sabellaria spinulosa* bioconstructions. Mar. Pet. Geol. 87, 203–212.
- Lo Iacono, C.L., Savini, A., Basso, D., 2018. Cold water carbonate bioconstructions. In: Micallef, A., Savini, A., Krastel, S. (Eds.), Submarine Geomorphology. Springer, pp. 425–455.
- Longo, C., Mastrototaro, F., Corriero, G., 2005. Sponge fauna associated with a Mediter ranean deep sea coral bank. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 85, 1341–1352.
- Lumare, F., 1966. Sulla scogliera a *Cladocora* di Crotone e le sue biocenosi. Rend. Acc. Naz. XL Ser. IV 1617, 101 131.
- MacArthur, R., MacArthur, J.W., 1961. On bird species diversity. Ecology 42 (3), 594 598.
- Macintyre, I.G., Marshall, J.F., 1988. Submarine lithification in coral reefs: some facts and
- mis conceptions. Proceedings of the 6th International Coral Reef Symposium, Townsville 1, pp. 263–272.
- Martin, S., Gattuso, J.P., 2009. Response of Mediterranean coralline algae to ocean acidification and elevated temperature. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 2089 2100.
- Martin, C.S., Giannoulaki, M., De Leo, F., Scardi, M., Salomidi, M., Knittweis, L., et al., 2014. Coralligenous and maerl habitats: predictive modelling to identify their spatial distributions across the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Rep. 4, 5073. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep05073.
- Mastrototaro, F., Matarrese, A., Tursi, A., 2002. Un mare di coralli nel Mar Ionio. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 9, 616–619.
- Mastrototaro, F., D'Onghia, G., Corriero, G., Matarrese, A., Maiorano, P., Panetta, P., et al., 2010. Biodiversity of the white coral bank off Cape Santa Maria di Leuca (Mediterranean Sea): an update. Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 57 (5), 412 430.
- Mastrototaro, F., Maiorano, P., Vertino, A., Battista, D., Indennidate, A., Savini, A., et al., 2013. A facies of *Kophobelemnon* (Cnidaria, Octocorallia) from Santa Maria di Leuca coral province (Mediterranean Sea). Mar. Ecol. 34 (3), 313–320.
- Mateos Molina, D., Palma, M., Ruiz Valentín, I., Panagos, P., García Charton, J.A., Ponti, M., 2015. Assessing consequences of land cover changes on sediment deliveries to coastal waters at regional level over the last two decades in the northwestern Medi terranean Sea. Ocean Coast. Manag. 116, 435–442.
- McCoy, S.J., Kamenos, N.A., 2015. Coralline algae (Rhodophyta) in a changing world: integrating ecological, physiological, and geochemical responses to global change. J. Phycol. 51, 6 24. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.12262.
- Meinesz, A., Hesse, B., 1991. Introduction et invasion de l'algue tropicale *Caulerpa taxifolia* en Méditerranée nord occidentale. Oceanol. Acta 14 (4), 415–426.
- Milazzo, M., Chemello, R., Badalamenti, F., Camarda, R., Riggio, S., 2002. The impact of human recreational activities in marine protected areas: what lessons should be learnt in the Mediterranean Sea? Mar. Ecol. 23 (1), 280–290.
- Milazzo, M., Rodolfo Metalpa, R., San Chan, V.B., Fine, M., Alessi, C., Thiyagarajan, V., et al., 2014. Ocean acidification impairs vermetid reef recruitment. Sci. Rep. 4, 4189.

- Milazzo, M., Fine, M., La Marca, E.C., Alessi, C., Chemello, R., 2017. Drawing the line at neglected marine ecosystems: ecology of Mediterranean vermetid reefs in a changing ocean. In: Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (Eds.), Marine Animal Forests. The Ecology of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots. Springer International Publishing, pp. 345–367.
- Mokhtar Jamai, K., Pascual, M., Ledoux, J. B., Coma, R., Féral, J.P., Garrabou, J., Aurelle, D., 2011. From global to local genetic structuring in the red gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*: the interplay between oceanographic conditions and limited larval dispersal. Mol. Ecol. 20, 3291 3305.
- Molinier, R., Picard, J., 1953. Notes biologiques à propos d'un voyage d'étude sur les côtes de Sicilie. Ann. Inst. Océanogr. 28 (4), 163-188.
- Moritz, C., Meynard, C.N., Devictor, V., Guizien, K., Labrune, C., Guarini, J.M., Mouquet, N., 2013. Disentangling the role of connectivity, environmental filtering, and spatial structure on metacommunity dynamics. Oikos 122 (10), 1401–1410.
- Morri, C., Cinelli, F., Bianchi, C.N., 1994a. Sessile epifauna gigantism in a submarine cave with sulphur springs. Cave Diving 6, 4 9.
- Morri, C., Peirano, A., Bianchi, C.N., Sassarini, M., 1994b. Present day bioconstructions of the hard coral, *Cladocora caespitosa* (L.) (Anthozoa, Scleractinia), in the Eastern Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean). Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 1 (1), 371–372.
- Morri, C., Vafidis, D., Peirano, A., Chintiroglou, C.C., Bianchi, C.N., 2000a. Anthozoa from a subtidal hydrothermal area of Milos Island (Aegean Sea), with notes on the con struction potential of the scleractinian coral *Madracis pharensis*. Ital. J. Zool. 67, 319–325.
- Morri, C., Peirano, A., Bianchi, C.N., Rodolfo Metalpa, R., 2000b. *Cladocora caespitosa*: a colonial zooxanthellate Mediterranean coral showing constructional ability. Reef Encounter 27, 22 25.
- Moura, R.L., Amado Filho, G.M., Moraes, F.C., Brasileiro, P.S., Salomon, P.S., Mahiques, M.M., et al., 2016. An extensive reef system at the Amazon River mouth. Sci. Adv. 2 (4), e1501252.
- Mueller, C.E., Lundälv, T., Middelburg, J.J., van Oevelen, D., 2013. The symbiosis between Lophelia pertusa and Eunice norvegica stimulates coral calcification and worm assimilation. PLoS One 8 (3), e58660.
- Musco, L., Pipitone, C., Agnetta, D., Alagna, A., D'Anna, G., Di Stefano, G., et al., 2016. Distribution of the orange stony coral *Astroides calycularis* along the Italian coasts. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 23 (1), 204–206.
- Musco, L., Prada, F., D'Anna, G., Galasso, N.M., Pipitone, C., Vega Fernández, T., et al., 2017. Turning casualty into opportunity: fragmenting dislodged colonies is effective for restoring reefs of a Mediterranean endemic coral. Ecol. Eng. 98, 206–212.
- Myers, J.A., Chase, J.M., Jimenez, I., Jorgensen, P.M., Araujo Murakami, A., Paniagua Zambrana, N., et al., 2013. Beta diversity in temperate and tropical forests reflects dissimilar mechanisms of community assembly. Ecol. Lett. 16, 151–157.
- Nissen, K.M., Leckebusch, G.C., Pinto, J.G., Ulbrich, U., 2014. Mediterranean cyclones and windstorms in a changing climate. Reg. Environ. Chang. 14, 1873–1890.
- Norton, T.A., 1992. Dispersal by macroalgae. Br. Phycol. J. 27, 293 301.
- Ocaña, A., Sánchez Tocino, L., López González, P.J., 2000. Faunistic and biogeographical observations concerning the Anthozoa (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) of the Granada coast (Sea of Alboran). Zool. Baetica 11, 51–65.
- Onorato, R., Forti, P., Belmonte, G., Poto, M., Costantini, A., 2003. Grotta sottomarina de
- *lu Lampiùne*: novità esplorative e prime indagini ecologiche. Thalassia Salentina 26 (Suppl), 55 64.
- Orejas, C., Gori, A., Lo Iacono, C., Puig, P., Gili, J.M., Dale, M.R., 2009. Cold water corals in the Cap de Creus canyon, northwestern Mediterranean: spatial distribution, density and anthropogenic impact. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 397, 37 51.

- Orth, R.J., Carruthers, T.J., Dennison, W.C., Duarte, C.M., Fourqurean, J.W., Heck, K.L., et al., 2006. A global crisis for seagrass ecosystems. Bioscience 56 (12), 987–996.
- Otero, M.D.M., Numa, C., Bo, M., Orejas, C., Garrabou, J., Cerrano, C., et al., 2017. Overview of the Conservation Status of Mediterranean Anthozoa. IUCN, Malaga, Spain.
- Parenzan, P., 1983. Puglia Marittima 2. Congedo Editore, Galatina.
- Pascual, M., Rives, B., Schunter, C., Macpherson, E., 2017. Impact of life history traits on gene flow: a multispecies systematic review across oceanographic barriers in the Medi terranean Sea. PLoS One 12 (5), e0176419.
- Pastorok, R.A., Bilyard, G.R., 1985. Effects of sewage pollution on coral reef communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 21, 175–189.
- Patarnello, T., Volckaert, F.A., Castilho, R., 2007. Pillars of Hercules: is the Atlantic Mediterranean transition a phylogeographical break? Mol. Ecol. 16 (21), 4426 4444.
- Paterno, M., Schiavina, M., Aglieri, G., Boscari, E., Casagrandi, R., Chiantone, M.C., et al., 2017. Population genomics meet Lagrangian simulations: oceanographic patterns and long larval duration ensure connectivity among *Paracentrotus lividus* populations in the Adriatic and Ionian seas. Ecol. Evol. 7, 2463–2479.
- Peirano, A., Morri, C., Mastronuzzi, G., Bianchi, C.N., 1998. The coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) as a bioherm builder in the Mediterranean Sea. Memorie Descrittive della Carta Geologica d'Italia 52 (1994), 59 74.
- Peirano, A., Morri, C., Bianchi, C.N., 1999. Skeleton growth and density patterns of the temperature, zooxanthellate scleractinian *Cladocora caespitosa* from the Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 185, 195–201.
- Peirano, A., Morri, C., Bianchi, C.N., Rodolfo Metalpa, R., 2001. Biomass, carbonate standing stock and production of the Mediterranean coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (L.). Facies 44, 75–80.
- Peirano, A., Kružić, P., Mastronuzzi, G., 2009. Growth of Mediterranean reef of *Cladocora caespitosa* (L.) in the Late Quaternary and climate inferences. Facies 55 (3), 325 333.
- Pellón, J., Badalamenti, F., 2016. Tentacular release of planulae in Anthozoa: the case of the Mediterranean endemic orange coral Astroides calycularis (Scleractinia: Dendrophylliidae). Coral Reefs 35 (4), 1369–1369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338_016_1476_2.
- Pérès, J.M., Picard, J., 1952. Les corniches calcaires d'origine biologique en Mediterranée occidentale. Recl. Trav. Stat. Mar. Endoume 4, 2 34.
- Pérès, J.M., Picard, J., 1964. Nouveau manuel de bionomie benthique de la Mer Méditerranée. Rec. Trav. Stat. Mar. Endoume 31, 1 137.
- Pezzolesi, L., Falace, A., Kaleb, S., Hernandez Kantun, J.J., Cerrano, C., Rindi, F., 2017. Genetic and morphological variation in an ecosystem engineer, *Lithophyllum byssoides* (Corallinales, Rhodophyta). J. Phycol. 53, 146–160.
- Piazzi, L., Ceccherelli, G., Meinesz, A., Verlaque, M., Akali, B., Antolic, B., et al., 2005. Invasion of *Caulerpa racemosa* (Caulerpales, Chlorophyta) in the Mediterranean Sea: the balance of thirteen years of spread. Cryptogam. Algol. 26, 189–202.
- Piazzi, L., Gennaro, P., Balata, D., 2012. Threats to macroalgal coralligenous assemblages in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 2623 2629. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.marpolbul.2012.07.027.
- Pilczynska, J., Cocito, S., Boavida, J., Serrão, E., Queiroga, H., 2016. Genetic diversity and local connectivity in the Mediterranean red gorgonian coral after mass mortality events. PLoS One 11 (3), e0150590.
- Pirazzoli, P.A., 2005. A review of possible eustatic, isostatic and tectonic contributions in eight late Holocene relative sea level histories from the Mediterranean area. Quat. Sci. Rev. 24 (18), 1989 2001.
- Pitacco, V., Orlando Bonaca, M., Mavric, B., Lipej, L., 2014. Macrofauna associated with a bank of *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) in the Gulf of Trieste (Northern Adriatic). Ann. Ser. Hist. Nat. 24 (1), 1 14.

Plicanti, A., Domínguez, R., Dubois, S., Bertocci, I., 2016. Human impacts on biogenic habitats: effects of experimental trampling on *Sabellaria alveolata* (Linnaeus, 1767) reefs.
J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 478, 34–44.

- Ponti, M., Fava, F., Abbiati, M., 2011. Spatial temporal variability of epibenthic assemblages on subtidal biogenic reefs in the northern Adriatic Sea. Mar. Biol. 158, 1447–1459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227_011_1661_3.
- Ponti, M., Perlini, R.A., Ventra, V., Grech, D., Abbiati, M., Cerrano, C., 2014. Ecological shifts in Mediterranean coralligenous assemblages related to gorgonian forest loss. PLoS One 9, e102782.
- Ponti, M., Turicchia, E., Ferro, F., Cerrano, C., Abbiati, M., 2018. The understorey of gorgonian forests in mesophotic temperate reefs. Aquat. Conserv. (in press). https:// doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2928.
- Pörtner, H.O., Karl, D.M., Boyd, P.W., Cheung, W., Lluch Cota, S.E., Nojiri, Y., et al., 2014. Ocean systems. In: Field, C.B., Barros, V.R., Mach, K., Mastrandrea, M. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sec toral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 411–484.
- Prada, F., Caroselli, E., Mengoli, S., Brizi, L., Fantazzini, P., Capaccioni, B., et al., 2017. Ocean warming and acidification synergistically increase coral mortality. Sci. Rep. 7, 40842.
- Pranovi, F., Raicevich, S., Franceschini, G., Farrace, M.G., Giovanardi, O., 2000. Rapido trawling in the northern Adriatic Sea: effects on benthic communities in an experimental area. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57 (3), 517–524.
- Precali, R., Giani, M., Marini, M., Grilli, F., Ferrari, C.R., Pecar, O., et al., 2005. Muci laginous aggregates in the northern Adriatic in the period 1999 2002: typology and dis tribution. Sci. Total. Environ. 353, 10–23.
- Raeymaekers, J.A.M., Maes, G.E., Geldof, S., Hontis, I., Nackaerts, K., Volckaert, F.A.M., 2008. Modeling genetic connectivity in sticklebacks as a guideline for river restoration. Evol. Appl. 1 (3), 475–488.
- Rebele, F., 1994. Urban ecology and special features of urban ecosystems. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 173 187.
- Relini, G., 2008. Checklist della Flora e della Fauna marina dei Mari Italiani. Parte I. Biol. Mar. Medit. 15 (Suppl. 1), III X.
- Relini, G., 2009. Marine Bioconstructions. Nature's Architectural Seascapes. Italian Habitats 22. Italian Ministry of the Environment and Territorial Protection. Friuli Museum of Natural History, Comune di Udine.
- Riesen, W., Riese, K., 1982. Macrobenthos of the subtidal Wadden Sea: revisited after 55 years. Helgoländer Meeresun. 35, 409–423.
- Riginos, C., Douglas, K.E., Jin, Y., Shanahan, D.F., Treml, E.A., 2011. Effects of geography and life history traits on genetic differentiation in benthic marine fishes. Ecography 34, 566 575.
- Rivetti, I., Fraschetti, S., Lionello, P., Zambianchi, E., Boero, F., 2014. Global warming and mass mortalities of benthic invertebrates in the Mediterranean Sea. PLoS One 9 (12), e115655.
- Roberts, J.M., 2005. Reef aggregating behaviour by symbiotic eunicid polychaetesfrom cold water corals: do worms assemble reefs? J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 85, 813–819.
- Roberts, J.M., Wheeler, A.J., Freiwald, A., 2006. Reefs of the deep: the biology and geology of cold water coral ecosystems. Science 312, 543 547.
- Roberts, J.M., Davies, A.J., Henry, L.A., 2009a. Mingulay reef complex: an interdisciplinary study of cold water coral habitat, hydrography and biodiversity. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 397, 139–151.
- Roberts, J.M., Wheeler, A., Freiwald, A., Cairns, S., 2009b. Cold Water Corals: The Biol ogy and Geology of Deep Sea Coral Habitats. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Rodolfo Metalpa, R., Peirano, A., Morri, C., Bianchi, C.N., 1999. Coral calcification rates in the Mediterranean scleractinian coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (L. 1767). Proc. Italian Assoc. Oceanol. Limnol. 13 (1), 291–299.
- Rodolfo Metalpa, R., Bianchi, C.N., Peirano, A., Morri, C., 2000. Coral mortality in NW Mediterranean. Coral Reef 19 (1), 24.
- Rodolfo Metalpa, R., Bianchi, C.N., Peirano, A., Morri, C., 2005. Tissue necrosis and mortality of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa*. Ital. J. Zool. 72, 271 276.
- Rodolfo Metaĺpa, R., Richard, C., Allemand, D., Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., Ferrier Pagés, C., 2006a. Response of zooxanthellae in symbiosis with the Mediterranean corals *Cladocora caespitosa* and *Oculina patagonica* to elevated temperatures. Mar. Biol. 150, 45–55.
- Rodolfo Metalpa, R., Richard, C., Allemand, D., Ferrier Pagès, C., 2006b. Growth and photosynthesis of two Mediterranean corals, *Cladocora caespitose* and *Oculina patagonica*, under normal and elevated temperatures. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 4546–4556.
- Rogers, C.S., 1990. Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 62, 185–202.
- Roghi, F., Parravicini, V., Montefalcone, M., Rovere, A., Morri, C., Peirano, A., Firpo, M., Bianchi, C.N., 2010. Decadal evolution of a coralligenous ecosystem under the influence of human impacts and climate change. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 17 (1), 59–62.
- Rossi, L., 1971. Cnidari e Ctenofori d'Italia. Quad. Civ. Staz. Idrobiol. Milano, 77 861.
- Rueda, J.L., Urra, J., Aguilar, R., Angeletti, L., Bo, M., García Ruiz, C., et al., 2018.
- Coldvater coral associated fauna in the Mediterranean Sea and adjacent areas. In: Orejas, C., Jiménez, C. (Eds.), Mediterranean Cold Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Springer. (in press).
- Ruiz, G.M., Fofonoff, P., Hines, A.H., Grosholz, E.D., 1999. Non indigenous species as stressors in estuarine and marine communities: assessing invasion impacts and interac tions. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44 (3 Pt. 2), 950–972.
- Ruiz, G.M., Fofonoff, P.W., Carlton, J.T., Wonham, M.J., Hines, A.H., 2000. Invasion of coastal marine communities in North America: apparent patterns, processes, and biases. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 31 (1), 481 531.
- Safriel, U.N., 1975. The role of vermetid gastropods in the formations of Mediterranean and Atlantic Reefs. Oecologia 20, 85–101.
- Sala, E., Garrabou, J., Zabala, M., 1996. Effects of diver frequentation on Mediterranean sublittoral populations of the bryozoan *Pentapora fascialis*. Mar. Biol. 126, 451–459.
- Sanfilippo, R., Rosso, A., Guido, A., Mastandrea, A., Russo, F., Riding, R., Taddei Ruggiero, E., 2015. Metazoan/microbial biostalactites from present day submarine caves in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Ecol. 36 (4), 1277 1293.
- Sanfilippo, R., Rosso, A., Guido, A., Gerovasileiou, V., 2017. Serpulid communities from two marine caves in the Aegean Sea, eastern Mediterranean. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 97 (5), 1059–1068.
- Santelices, B., 1990. Patterns of reproduction, dispersal and recruitment in seaweeds. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev. 28, 177 276.
- Sarà, M., 1966. Un coralligeno di piattaforma (coralligene de plateau) lungo il litorale pugliese. Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol. 15, 139 150.
- Sarà, M., 1968. Research on Benthic Fauna of Southern Adriatic Italian Coast. Final Scientific Report, O. N. R., Washington.
- Sarà, M., Pulitzer Finali, G., 1970. Nuove vedute sulla classificazione del coralligeno. Pubbl. Staz. Zool. Napoli 38 (Suppl), 174–179.
- Sartoretto, S., 1998. Bioérosion des concrétions coralligènes de Méditerranée par les
- orgaismes perforants: essai de quantification des processus. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. IIA Earth Planet. Sci. 327 (12), 839 844.
- Sartoretto, S., Francour, P., 1997. Quantification of bioerosion by *Sphaerechinus granularis* on 'Coraligène' concretions of the Western Mediterranean. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 77 (2), 565–568.

- Sartoretto, S., Verlaque, M., Laborel, J., 1996. Age of settlement and accumulation rate of submarine "coralligène" (10 to 60 m) of the north western Mediterranean Sea; relation to Holocene rise in sea level. Mar. Geol. 130, 317 331. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0025 3227(95)00175 1.
- Savini, A., Vertino, A., Marchese, F., Beuck, L., Freiwald, A., 2014. Mapping cold water coral habitats at different scales within the Northern Ionian Sea (Central Mediterranean): an assessment of coral coverage and associated vulnerability. PLoS One 9, e87108.
- Schäfer, W., 1972. Ecology and Palaeoecology of Marine Environments. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Schiaparelli, S., Guidetti, P., Cattaneo Vietti, R., 2003. Can mineralogical features affect the distribution patterns of sessile gastropods? The Vermetidae case in the Mediterranean Sea. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 83, 1267–1268.
- Schiaparelli, S., Castellano, M., Povero, P., Sartoni, G., Cattaneo Vietti, R., 2007. A benthic mucilage event in North Western Mediterranean Sea and its possible relationships with the summer 2003 European heatwave: short term effects on littoral rocky assemblages. Mar. Ecol. 28, 341–353.
- Schimmenti, E., Musco, L., Lo Brutto, S., Mikac, B., Nygren, A., Badalamenti, F., 2016. Mediterranean record of *Eulalia ornata* (Annelida: Phyllodocidae) corroborating its fidelity link with the *Sabellaria alveolata* reef habitat. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 17 (2), 359–370.
- Schuhmacher, H., 1984. Reef building properties of *Tubastraea micranthus* (Scleractinia, Dendrophyllidae), a coral without zooxanthellae. Mar. Eco. Prog. Ser. 20, 93–99.
- Schuhmacher, H., Zibrowius, H., 1985. What is hermatypic? A redefinition of ecological groups in corals and other organisms. Coral Reefs 4, 1 9.
- Scoffin, T.P., 1992. Taphonomy of coral reefs: a review. Coral Reefs 11, 57 77. Scuderi,
- D., Terlizzi, A., Faimali, M., 1998. Osservazioni su alcuni tratti della biologia riproduttiva di vermeti biocostruttori e loro ruolo nella edificazione dei 'trottoir'. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 5 (1), 284–289.
- Sebens, K.B., 1986. Spatial relationships among encrusting marine organisms in the New England subtidal zone. Ecol. Monogr. 56, 73 96.
- Shafir, S., Halperin, I., Rinkevich, B., 2014. Toxicology of household detergents to reef corals. Water Air Soil Pollut. 225, 1890.
- Sheppard, C., Davy, S., Pilling, G., Graham, N., 2017. The Biology of Coral Reefs. Oxford University Press.
- Sivan, D., Wdowinski, S., Lambeck, K., Galili, E., Raban, A., 2001. Holocene sea level changes along the Mediterranean coast of Israel, based on archaeological observations
- and numerical model. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 167 (1), 101 117. Socolar, J.B., Gilroy, J.J., Kunin, W.E., Edwards, D.P., 2016. How should beta diversity inform biodiversity conservation? Trends Ecol. Evol. 31, 67 80.
- Soppelsa, O., Crocetta, F., Fasulo, G., 2007. I molluschi marini di Punta di Pioppeto (Isola di Procida Campania). Boll. Malacol. 43 (1/8), 21 32.
- Stachowitsch, M., Riedel, B., Zuschin, M., Machan, R., 2007. Oxygen depletion and benthic mortalities: the first in situ experimental approach to documenting an elusive phenomenon. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 5 (10), 344–352.
- Sunday, J.M., Fabricius, K.E., Kroeker, K.J., Anderson, K.M., Brown, N.E., Barry, J.P., et al., 2017. Ocean acidification can mediate biodiversity shifts by changing biogenic habitat. Nat. Clim. Chang. 7, 81–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3161.
- Taramelli Rivosecchi, E., 1961. Osservazioni sulle biocenosi del banco a *Sabellaria* di Lavinio. Rend. Accad. Naz. XL, Ser. IV 12, 147–157.
- Taviani, M., Angeletti, L., Antolini, B., Ceregato, A., Froglia, C., Lopez Correa, M., et al., 2011. Geo biology of Mediterranean deep water coral ecosystems. In: Brugnoli, E., Cavaretta, G. (Eds.), Marine Research at CNR, Dipartamento Terra e Ambiente. Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Roma, p. 705720.

- Taviani, M., Angeletti, L., Beuck, L., Campiani, E., Canese, S., Foglini, F., et al., 2016. Reprint of 'On and off the beaten track: megafaunal sessile life and Adriatic cascading processes'. Mar. Geol. 375, 146–160.
- Taviani, M., Angeletti, L., Canese, S., Cannas, R., Cardone, F., Cau, A., et al., 2017. The "Sardinian cold water coral province" in the context of the Mediterranean coral ecosystems. Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 145, 61–68.
- Teixidó, N., Garrabou, J., Harmelin, J.G., 2011. Low dynamics, high longevity and persis tence of sessile structural species dwelling on Mediterranean coralligenous outcrops. PLoS One 6, e23744. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023744.
- Teixidó, N., Casas, E., Cebrián, E., Linares, C., Garrabou, J., 2013. Impacts on coralligenous
- outcrop biodiversity of a dramatic coastal storm. PLoS One 8, e53742. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053742.
- Templado, J., Calvo, M., Luque, A.A., Garvía, A., Maldonado, M., Moro, L., 2004. Guía de los invertebrados y peces marinos españoles protegidos por la legislación nacional e inter nacional. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente. Naturaleza y Parques Nacionales. Colección Técnica, Madrid.
- Templado, J., Richter, A., Calvo, M., 2016. Reef building Mediterranean vermetid gastro pods: disentangling the *Dendropoma petraeum* species complex. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 17 (1), 13 31.
- Ten Hove, H.A., 1979. Different causes of mass occurrence in serpulids. In: Larwood, G., Rosen, B.R. (Eds.), Biology and Systematic of Colonial Organisms. Systematics Asso ciation Special Volume 11. Academic Press, London, pp. 281–298.
- Ten Hove, H.A., Van Den Hurk, P., 1993. A review of recent and fossil serpulid 'reefs'; actuopalaeontology and the 'Upper Malm' serpulid limestones in NW Germany. Geol. Mijnb. 72, 23 67.
- Terlizzi, A., Anderson, M.J., Fraschetti, S., Benedetti Cecchi, L., 2007. Scales of spatial variation in Mediterranean subtidal sessile assemblages at different depths. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 332, 25–39.
- Terrón Sigler, A., 2016. Conservation Biology of the Endangered Orange Coral. *Astroides calycularis*. PhD Thesis, Laboratorio de Biología Marina Facultad de Biología Universidad de Sevilla. 263 pp.
- Terrón Sigler, A., Peñalver Duque, P., León Muez, D., Torre, F.E., 2014. Spatio temporal macrofaunal assemblages associated with the endangered orange coral *Astroides calycularis* (Scleractinia: Dendrophylliidae). Aquat. Biol. 21, 143–154.
- Terrón Sigler, A., León Muez, D., Peñalver, P., Espinosa Torre, F., 2016a. The effects of SCUBA diving on the endemic Mediterranean coral Astroides calycularis. Ocean Coast. Manag. 122, 1–8.
- Terrón Sigler, A., León Muez, D., Peñalver, P., Gálvez César, R., Espinosa Torre, F., 2016b. Geographic distribution of *Astroides calycularis* (Scleractinia: Dendrophylliidae) as a
- baseline to assess future human impacts on the Southern Iberian Peninsula.
- J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 96, 1181 1189.
- Thrush, S.F., Hewitt, J.E., Cummings, V.J., Ellis, J.I., Hatton, C., Lohrer, A., Norkko, A., 2004. Muddy waters: elevating sediment input to coastal and estuarine habitats. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2 (6), 299–306.
- Thrush, S.F., Hewitt, J.E., Cummings, V.J., Norkko, A., Chiantore, M., 2010. β diversity and species accumulation in Antarctic coastal benthos: influence of habitat, distance and productivity on ecological connectivity. PLoS One 5 (7), e11899.
- Tosi, L., Zecchin, M., Franchi, F., Bergamasco, A., Da Lio, C., Baradello, L., et al., 2017. Paleochannel and beach bar palimpsest topography as initial substrate for coralligenous buildups offshore Venice, Italy. Sci. Rep. 7, 1321. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598 017 01483 z.
- Touratier, F., Goyet, C., Houpert, L., de Madron, X.D., Lefèvre, D., Stabholz, M., Guglielmi, V., 2016. Role of deep convection on anthropogenic CO₂ sequestration

in the Gulf of Lions (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Deep Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 113, 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2016.04.003.

- Tunesi, L., Diviacco, G., 1997. In: Observation by submersible on the bottoms off shore Portofino Promontory (Ligurian Sea). Proceedings XII AIOL Congress, pp. 61–74.
- Tunesi, L., Moss, D., Evans, D., Mo, G., Di Martino, V., 2006. The Mediterranean marine habitats in the "E.U.N.I.S." system. Biol. Mar. Mediterr. 13 (2), 224–225.
- Tuomisto, H., Ruokolainen, K., Yli Halla, M., 2003. Dispersal, environment, and floristic variation of Western Amazonian forests. Science 299, 241–244.
- Tursi, A., Mastrototaro, F., Matarrese, A., Maiorano, P., D'Onghia, G., 2004. Biodiversity of the white coral reefs in the Ionian Sea (Central Mediterranean). Chem. Ecol. 20, 107 116.
- UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, 2003. Strategic Action Programme for the Conservation of Biological Diversity (SAP BIO) in the Mediterranean Region. UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, Tunis.
- UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, 2008. Action Plan for the Conservation of the Coralligenous and Other Calcareous Bio Concretions in the Mediterranean Sea. UN Environment/MAP. UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, Tunis.
- UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, 2017. Action Plan for the Conservation of the Coralligenous and Other Calcareous Bio Concretions in the Mediterranean Sea. UN Environment/MAP. UNEP MAP RAC/SPA, Athens, Greece.
- Vassallo, P., Bianchi, C.N., Paoli, C., Holon, F., Navone, A., Bavestrello, G., et al., 2018. A predictive approach to benthic marine habitat mapping: efficacy and management implications. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 131, 218 232.
- Verlaque, M., 2010. Field methods to analyse the condition of Mediterranean *Lithophyllum byssoides* (Lamarck) Foslie rims. Sci. Rep. Port Cros Natl. Park Fr. 24, 185–196.
- Vertino, A., Savini, A., Rosso, A., Di Geronimo, I., Mastrototaro, F., Sanfilippo, R., et al., 2010. Benthic habitat characterization and distribution from two representative sites of the deep water SML Coral Province (Mediterranean). Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 57 (5), 380–396.
- Vorberg, R., 2000. Effects of shrimps fisheries on reefs of Sabellaria spinulosa (Polychaeta). ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57, 1416–1420.
- Wang, S., Meyer, E., McKay, J., Matz, M.V., 2012. 2b RAD: a simple and flexible method for genome wide genotyping. Nat. Methods 9 (8), 808–810.
- Wasserman, T.N., Cushman, S.A., Shirk, A.S., Landguth, E.L., Littell, J.S., 2012. Simulating the effects of climate change on population connectivity of American marten (*Martes americana*) in the northern Rocky Mountains, USA. Landsc. Ecol. 27, 211 225.
- Wear, S.L., Thurber, V.R., 2015. Sewage pollution: mitigation is key for coral reef stewardship. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1355, 15 30.
- Weersing, K., Toonen, R.J., 2009. Population genetics, larval dispersal, and connectivity in marine systems. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 393, 1 12.
- Whittaker, R.H., 1960. Vegetation of the Siskiyou Mountains, Oregon and California. Ecol. Monogr. 30, 279–338.
- Williams, S.L., Grosholz, E.D., 2008. The invasive species challenge in estuarine and coastal environments: marrying management and science. Estuar. Coasts 31 (1), 3 20.
- Williams, S.L., Smith, J.E., 2007. A global review of the distribution, taxonomy, and impacts of introduced seaweeds. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 38, 327–359.
- Wong, P.P., Losada, I.J., Gattuso, J.P., Hinkel, J., Khattabi, A., McInnes, K.L., et al., 2014. Coastal systems and low lying areas. In: Field, C.B., Barros, V.R., Mach, K., Mastrandrea, M. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 361–409.
- Wood, R., 1999. Reef Evolution. Oxford University Press, New York.

Würtz, M., Rovere, M., 2015. Atlas of the Mediterranean Seamounts and Seamount Like Structures. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Málaga, Spain.

Zibrowius, H., 1978. Les scléractiniaires des grottes sousmarines en Méditerranee et dans l'Atlantique nord oriental (Portugal, Madére, Canaries, Azores). Pubbl. Staz. Zool. Napoli 40, 516–545.

- Zibrowius, H., 1980. Les scléractiniaires de la Mediterranée et de l'Atlantique nord oriental. Mem. Inst. Oceanogr. (Monaco) 11, 1 284.
- Zibrowius, H., 1983. Nouvelles données sur la distribution de quelques scléractiniaires 'méditerranéens' á l'Est et é l'Ouest du détroit de Gibraltar. Rapp p v Reun, Bull. Comm. Int. Explor. Sci. Mer. Mediterr. 28, 307-309.
- Zunino, S., Pitacco, V., Mavrič, B., Orlando Bonaca, M., Kružić, P., Lipej, L., 2018. The ecology of the Mediterranean stony coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Linnaeus, 1767) in the Gulf of Trieste (northern Adriatic Sea): a 30 year long story. Mar. Biol. Res. 14 (3), 307 320.